Investigating the Influence of Multilingual Humour on Stress Reduction after Inducing with TSST: An EGG Study



By

Maria Ilyas Malik (Registration No: 00000402080) Department of Sciences School of Interdisciplinary Engineering & Sciences (SINES)

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2024)

Investigating the Influence of Multilingual Humour on Stress Reduction after Inducing with TSST: An EGG Study



By

Maria Ilyas Malik

(Registration No: 00000402080)

A thesis submitted to the National University of Sciences & Technology, Islamabad,

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Bioinformatics

Supervisor: Dr. Mehak Rafiq

School of Interdisciplinary Engineering & Sciences (SINES)

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2024)

Annex A to NUST Letter No. 0972/102/Exams/Thesis-Cert dated 23 Dec 16.

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis written by Mr/Ms Maria Ilyas Malik Registration No. 00000402080 of <u>SINES</u> has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all aspects as per NUST Statutes/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature with stamp: Mame of Supervisor: Mame of	Aby
Date: 16/09/24	
Signature of HoD with stamp: $\frac{16/09/2024}{12024}$	J. Dr. Mian Hyas Ahmad HcD Engineering Professor SINES - MUST Sector H-12 Islamabad
Countersig	n by Pr. SPEDIRTIZA ALI SHAH
Signature (Dean/Principal):	SINES - NUST, Sector H-12 Istamabad
Date: 8 8	EP 2024

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I <u>Maria Ilyas Malik</u> hereby state that my MS thesis titled "<u>Investigating the Influence of</u> <u>Multilingual Humour on Stress Reduction after Inducing with TSST: An EGG Study</u>" is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad or anywhere else in the country/ world.

At any time if my statement is found to be incorrect even after I graduate, the university has the right to withdraw my MS degree.

Name of Student: Maria Ilyas Malik

Date: _____

DEDICATION

I dedicate this piece of hard work to my beloved parents, siblings, friends, teachers and my nano Khalida Ashraf. Their continuous support and encouragement have been my beacon of hope along this journey.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praise be to **ALLAH the almighty**, nourisher and the cherisher of the whole world, who has bestowed knowledge and wisdom upon all mankind. Countless blessings and salutations on the noble figure of **Hazrat Muhammad** , and peace and mercy upon His noble companions, family members, and true followers till the day of judgment.

I am extremely grateful to my supervisor, **Dr. Mehak Rafiq**, for putting forth interesting ideas worth investigating and enhancing my research and decision-making skills. Without her guidance, I would not have gotten this far. I want to acknowledge the GEC members, **Dr. Shahzad Rasool**, for his guidance and for helping us scope out the work, and **Dr. Ammar Mushtaq**, for his support in enhancing the research. Finally, I would like to thank my research fellows in the lab, who happily volunteered for data collection and kept each day lively even through the toughest of times.

I have no words to acknowledge the sacrifices, lots of prayers, everlasting support, encouragement, and firm dedication of my loving parents Nausheen & Ilyas, my siblings Maham & Awais, my mamo Umer Sani, my friend Samreen Mubarik, my Late grandfathers M. M. Rafiq (Controller PBC) and Prof. Sh. Ashraf (HOD English Department), and my tayaabu Dr. Nadeem Shafiq Malik (Secretary Heritage Division), who never gave up on me and always believed in my potential. Their presence and moral support always strengthened my thoughts.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE (<i>OF CONTENTS</i>
LIST OF	<i>FIGURES</i>
ABBREV	<i>TATIONS</i>
1 CHA	PTER 1: INTRODUCTION13
1.1	Overview
1.2	Impact of Stress on Mental Health 15
1.3	Classification of Stress Types 15
1.3.1	Chronic Stress
1.3.2	Acute Stress
1.4	Methods of Stress Measurement 17
1.4.1	Subjective Measures of Stress
1.4.2	Objective Measures of Stress
1.5	The Evolution of Comedy as a Cultural Phenomenon 23
1.5.1	Understanding the Role of Comedy in Social Dynamics
1.5.2	Humour as a Tool for Stress Management
1.6	Research Motivation 25
1.7	Problem Statement
1.8	Research Objectives 25
1.9	Thesis Structure
2 СНА	PTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW27
2.1	Multilingual Humour and Emotional Processing27
2.1.1	Cognitive Impacts of Multilingualism27
2.1.2	EEG-Based Studies on Stress and Humour

	2.2	Applications of EEG in brain-computer interface (BCI) Systems	. 28
	2.2.1	Using EEG for Stress Detection and Reduction	28
	2.3	Measuring Stress Using Questionnaires	. 30
	2.3.1	Overview of Common Stress Assessment Tools	30
	2.3.2	Comparative Analysis of Questionnaire Studies	31
	2.4	Measuring Stress Using EEG	. 32
	2.4.1	Advantages of EEG in Stress Measurement	32
	2.4.2	Integrating EEG with Self-Report Measures for Stress Assessment	32
	2.5	Overview of Social Stress	. 33
	2.5.1	The Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) Protocol	33
	2.6	Scalp EEG and Signal Processing Techniques	. 34
	2.7	Identification of Research Gaps	. 35
3	СНА	PTER 3: METHODOLOGY	.37
	3.1	Overview of Methodology Approach	. 37
	3.2	Data Exploration	. 38
	3.2 3.3	Data Exploration	. 38 . 38
	3.2 3.3 3.4	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition	. 38 . 38 . 39
	 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details	. 38 . 38 . 39
	 3.2 3.3 3.4 <i>3.4.1</i> <i>3.4.2</i> 	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli.	. 38 . 38 . 39 39 39
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli. Procedure of TSST	. 38 . 38 . 39 39 39 39
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification.	• 38 • 38 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 40
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5	Data Exploration	• 38 • 38 • 39 39 39 39 40 42
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire	. 38 . 38 . 39 39 39 39 39 40 42 43
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.6 3.4.7	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire Structure and Components of the DASS-21	. 38 . 38 . 39 <i></i> 39 <i></i> 39 <i></i> 39 <i></i> 40 <i></i> 42 <i></i> 43 <i></i> 44
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.6 3.4.7 3.5	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire Structure and Components of the DASS-21	• 38 • 38 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 40 • 42 • 43 • 44 • 44
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.7 3.4.7 3.5.1	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire Structure and Components of the DASS-21 Signal Pre-Processing Noise Filtering and Artifact Removal	• 38 • 38 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 40 • 42 • 43 • 43 • 44 • 45
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.7 3.5.1 3.5.1	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire Structure and Components of the DASS-21 Signal Pre-Processing Noise Filtering and Artifact Removal Data Analysis Techniques	. 38 . 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 40 42 43 44 45 . 47
	3.2 3.3 3.4 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.3 3.4.5 3.4.6 3.4.7 3.5.1 3.5.1 3.6 3.6.1	Data Exploration Python Libraries EEG Data Collection and Acquisition Participants Details Selection of Video Stimuli Procedure of TSST EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification Experimental Design Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire Structure and Components of the DASS-21 Signal Pre-Processing Noise Filtering and Artifact Removal Data Analysis Techniques Feature Extraction Methodologies.	• 38 • 38 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 39 • 40 • 42 • 43 • 43 • 44 • 45 • 47 • 47

	3.7	Statistical Analysis
	3.7.1	Descriptive Statistics of EEG Power Bands
	3.7.2	Data Normalization Techniques49
	3.7.3	Testing for Normality
4	СНА	PTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION52
	4.1	Behavioural Data and Stress Level Outcomes 52
	4.2	Statistical Inferences from EEG Data 52
	4.2.1	Analysis of Q-Q Plots and Histogram52
	4.2.2	Comparison of Mean Differences Across Power Bands55
	4.2.3	Heatmap of p-values
	4.2.4	Line Graph Representations of Average Stress Levels
	4.2.5	EEG Relative Power Band Analysis: Pre, Intermediate, and Post-TSST and Humour Exposure
		60
	4.2.6	Impact of Humour on EEG Activity
5	СНА	PTER 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5.1	Summary of Key Findings
	5.1.1	EEG Stress Indicators67
	5.1.2	Impact of Multilingual Humour67
	5.1.3	Practical Implications67
	5.2	Limitations and Future Work
6	REFI	ERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

	Page No.
Table 1: Physical Techniques Used to Measure Stress	19
Table 2: List of Physiological Techniques Used to Measure Stress	21
Table 3: List of Non-Invasive physiological Techniques Used to identify S	tress22
Table 4: Specifications of commercially available BCI headsets	
Table 5: Detail of python libraries that are used in this project and mention	ing the purpose of
utilizing the packages	
Table 6: Frequency bands in the EEG signal [107]	
Table 7: Scoring Scale of DASS-21	45

LIST OF FIGURES

Page No.
Figure 1: Brain Waves classification [107]41
Figure 2: Neurosky Mindwave Mobile 2 headset
Figure 3: Experimental procedure
Figure 4: Raw EEG data of subject 0146
Figure 5: Filtered EEG data of subject 0146
Figure 6: Q-Q plots from EEG recording data
Figure 7: Histogram from EEG recording data
Figure 8: Q-Q plots from DASS questionnaire data
Figure 9: Histograms from DASS questionnaire data
Figure 10: Mean Difference for Native Language Video Exposure
Figure 11: Mean Difference for Non-Native Language Video Exposure
Figure 12: Heatmap for EEG Power Bands Across Native Language
Figure 13: Heatmap for EEG Power Bands Across Non-Native Language
Figure 14: Average Stress Levels for Overall Score Across Non-Native Language
Figure 15: Average Stress Levels for Overall Score Across Native Language
Figure 16: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Non-Native Language with eyes close baseline
Figure 17: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Native Language with eyes close baseline63
Figure 18: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Non-Native Language with eyes open baseline
Figure 19: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Native language with eyes open baseline 65

ABBREVIATIONS

EEG	Electroencephalogram	
TSST	Trier Social Stress Test	
FFT	Fast Fourier transform	
EEG	Electroencephalogram	
PSD	Power Spectral Density	
CRH	Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone	
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic Hormone	
DASS	Depression Anxiety Stress Scale	
WHO	World Health Organization	
COTS	Commercial Off the Shelf	
PNS	Parasympathetic Neural Systems	
SNS	Sympathetic (PNS) Neural Systems	
ANS	Autonomic nervous system	
BVP	Blood Volume Pulse	
HRV	Heart Rate Variability	
PPG	Photoplethysmography	
GSR	Galvanic skin response	
ECG	Electrocardiogram	
MEG	Magnetoencephalography	
ECoG	Electrocorticogram	
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging	
BP	Blood Pressure	
EMG	Electromyography	
FP1	Frontal Location	
TGAM	Thinkgear Application-Specific Integrated Circuit Module	
ICA	Independent Component Analysis	
Q-Q plots	Quantile-Quantile Plots	

ABSTRACT

One of the major health issues is mental stress which often begins at a minor level and gradually builds up pressure, ultimately leading to stress. Electroencephalogram is a noninvasive method that evaluates the workings of the human brain and can be used for calculating stress. EEG detects the electrical activity in the brain by placing small electrodes on the brain's scalp. The study aims to use the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) to induce stress in participants, followed by exposure to either native or non-native comedy videos as a potential stressreduction intervention. In this study, the sample size of EEG signals was collected using one channel from 40 subjects aged 18-25 years with a gender split of 50% male and 50% female. This data only included students from the university. They were all healthy individuals without any known mental health conditions. All the subjects were shown one native comedy video clip and one non-native comedy video clip as their audio-visual stimuli that helped reduce different stress levels after taking the stress test. The brain's electrical activity was recorded while the participants performed TSST and watched comedy clips. This data was pre-processed using filters to remove environmental, biological, or technical artifacts. Specifically, the study used Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) and Power Spectral Density (PSD) analysis to determine changes in brainwave patterns mainly on the Delta, Theta, and Alpha waves. Increased delta and theta power after exposure to humor is found to represent the reduction of stress and cognitive relaxation. In the comedy video shown in the native language, there was a greater increase in Delta and Theta power, which induced a greater stress-reducing effect compared with non-native humor. Therefore, cultural familiarity plays an important role in stress management, and native-language humour may be more effective for reducing stress.

Keywords: Electroencephalogram (EEG), Trier Social Stress Test (TSST), Fast Fourier transform (FFT), Power Spectral Density (PSD).

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Currently, in the era of technological advancement, the growing concern is stress which has more recently been investigated in terms of its effects on mental health. The media has featured its strategies for preventing and managing the levels of stress [1].

As stress has a significant impact on social, physical, and mental health, henceforth it continues to be a point of discussion. There are several uses for stress research, for example measuring stress throughout the day, assessing stress to boost well-being and productivity at work, delaying the development of major illnesses, and much more. This research area is equally beneficial for the entire society and its individuals. Using the available electroencephalography (EEG) headset, this thesis brings an objective understanding of stress by emphasizing the key features and regions of brain activity.

1.1 Overview

Stress negatively affects one's capacity to function and overall health, as it makes them more susceptible to sickness and slows down the body's ability to recover [2]. When a person encounters a stressor their neurons in the hypothalamus are activated. A corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) is discharged from the pituitary gland and subsequently, it releases adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) where the blood carries ACTH, which has an impact on the adrenal glands. Cortisol, adrenaline, and norepinephrine are a few of the stress hormones that in response are released [3]. The production of cortisol is caused by stress, which helps a person deal with an immediate threat. Chronically the increase in levels of stress may result in depressive symptoms. According to several studies human stress, which may also increase anxiety and mood problems, has been linked to depression [4]. Nearly 350 million individuals worldwide suffer from depression, and it appears that these things are becoming worse in Pakistan [5]. In a study, 820 participants were contacted or interviewed, and out of which, about 46 percent had depression or symptoms associated with it [6]. There are several reasons for the prevalence of mental illness in Pakistan, including natural catastrophes, internal wars, economic instability, political unrest, increased rates of crimes and poverty, and much more.

Less than 350 psychiatrists, or 0.2 per 100,000 people, are estimated to exist in Pakistan by the World Health Organization (WHO) [7]. The current condition of psychiatric wards and mental institutions is terrible where there are only five psychiatric recognized hospitals in the entire nation. One of our most important goals should be to educate people about mental illness, but the harder challenge is to eliminate the stigma and guilt connected with it [3].

Psychological techniques have been used to evaluate stress and these techniques heavily rely on human interaction because these techniques are known as observer-reported or selfreported measures in the literature [8]. When a person chooses to conceal their stress status out of shame, personal reason, or stigma, it affects the outcome, these objective measures become less successful in reflecting the amount of stress. Most of the people who have mental health problems get misdiagnosed because sometimes hide their condition in shame and stigma. Technology has advanced to the point where EEG headgear is readily accessible as Commercial Off-the-shelf (COTS) equipment in some form. To produce a result where the stressors can use these EEG headsets to assess stress objectively. Such a metric might help a psychologist identify stress before it has any major health consequences. It can give a direct assessment of brain activity to reduce the stigma associated with mental examinations in patients. This might also aid in studying how stressful circumstances affect cognitive processes and enable us to educate with progressive development.

This study of human stress measurement is a fast-developing field in EEG data processing. There is a literature on stress measurement that uses EEG in response to various stressors. The characterization of human stress based on baseline EEG has not received much attention which is why particularly in poor nations with limited access to mental health institutions, wearable EEG stress measurement is of relevance. Thus, EEG was used in these regions as an objective measure for stress classification to become more important. It is a relatively inexpensive and simple method to identify stress. Human stress and mental states have been successfully evaluated with success using machine learning algorithms.

1.2 Impact of Stress on Mental Health

Life itself presents physical and mental difficulties that are presented by life itself and unavoidable pressures enter daily life because of society and technology's rapid advancements. Numerous pressures might cause someone to feel stressed out in their daily lives. [9]. According to the standard definition of stress, this reaction pattern is complex and frequently consists of behavioural, psychological, and cognitive components [9]. It is a description of the decline in how a body processes, evaluates and responds to sensory stimuli [10]. An additional description is provided as Environmental pressures surpass an organism's ability for adaptation, causing biological and psychological alterations that may put people at risk for illnesses [11]. This is why the phrase "computational stress" was very recently coined, and it implies measuring stress at a given moment in time while taking stress symptoms into account [8].

1.3 Classification of Stress Types

There is a severity of the sickness and its symptoms which are used to classify the different forms of stress. Each kind has distinct indications and effects; Chronic, Acute, episodic, and long-term stress are examples of these categories [12].

1.3.1 Chronic Stress

Chronic stress can be described as an ongoing issue lasting for a minimum duration of four weeks, with at least one significant life event before commencement [13]. It can be brought on by exposure to horrific events as well as by daily tensions that aren't properly managed. Ignoring chronic stress can have serious consequences, including depression, cardiovascular disorders, and anxiety. People's health is harmed by chronic stress on a daily and even yearly basis. Chronic stress is brought on by dysfunctional families, poverty, unpleasant marriages, and undesirable jobs. When someone is confined in a bad circumstance, it is set off. It happens because of surpassing demands for what appears to be an endless amount of time.

Nine basic types of chronic stress exist i.e., demands, under-load, structural limits, unpredictability, complexity, under-reward, choice restriction, conflict, and resource deprivation [14]. The danger is the persistent possibility of damage that cannot be prevented or managed, and it develops when a person's reputation is in danger. A constant and independent aspect of the actual threat is how it is perceived. It draws attention to the stressful aspect of the issue. When a person is under the strain of several urgent, uncontrollable duties, and independence that cannot be avoided, demands and overload occur. This kind of overload is one of several factors that contribute to chronic stress, including a lack of time for oneself, a disproportionate quantity of work compared to other people, and unrealistic expectations from others [15].

Despite having distinct qualities, complexity is a type of excessive demand. Demands of this kind are interrelated, creating a level of complexity that causes chronic stress. Social duties give a complicated schedule to fulfill, which puts someone under constant stress. As an issue that is closely tied to complexity, uncertainty is said to exist. Scaling back the impact of complexity is uncertainty. If uncertainty lasts longer than expected, stress will be brought on. Uncertainty turns into chronic stress when getting the problem resolved takes priority above getting the desired outcome.

In many circumstances, discrimination is widely seen as stressful. Structure-related characteristics are present in the underload. When someone lacks an alternative, boredom is their only available condition. There are several types of demands, such as monotonous work that is slow-moving and frequent. Problems arise when an individual is forced to make choices from a limited range due to structural restrictions in their social context. These issues can take on a variety of shapes, from how regulations are interpreted to the reality of severe societal disadvantages like discrimination. Access restrictions are likewise seen as a type of stress.

1.3.2 Acute Stress

The most prevalent type of stress is acute stress, which is driven by unfamiliar, frightening, unpredictable, and unmanageable conditions. Acute stress is typically brought on by the demands of the future and the past. Examples of everyday events that can be stressful include losing a significant contract or being on the verge of a deadline. Instantaneous stress

can be beneficial since it causes the body to generate stress hormones to deal with the traumatic period. However, if these stress hormones are released in abundance, the body's defense mechanisms may get worn out. Acute stress is less harmful than long-term stress since it lasts for a shorter period. Whereas excessive short-term stress can cause physical and psychological issues. such as headaches, discomfort, digestive problems, and other symptoms that indicate stress. Most acute stress patients may quickly recognize its symptoms.

It is defined as acute stress that frequently occurs and has self-inflicted demands and disorganization as its main symptoms. During episodic acute stress, one might also notice short-temperedness, impatience, nervous energy, tension, and worry. Occasionally, irritation can result in aggression, which can harm social relationships. The workplace might thus become unpleasant for the sufferer. In this condition, patients forecast doom in each situation. People suffering from episodic acute stress view the world as scary and joyless, are reluctant to change, and feel endless worry, over-arousal, and despair.

Under-reward is a concept that comes from Equity Theory [16]. According to this idea of social exchange, each relationship's participants should get an equivalent number of outputs relative to inputs. The phenomenon of under-reward is described as occurring when playing the victim is more stressful than playing the opponent. Every Aspect of social life, business, and family is fraught with conflict. They happen because of various goals and morals. If the parties cannot agree on shared aims and goals, they tend to last for a longer amount of time. Chronic stress is caused by both the anxiety of bringing up the dispute and the problem itself.

1.4 Methods of Stress Measurement

The symptoms that can be identified with the stress response could be used to measure stress in people in a variety of ways. Humans exhibit signs of stress reaction on the psychological, physical, and physiological levels. Measures of stress may be divided into three categories based on these symptoms. In the subsections below, the measures are explained briefly.

1.4.1 Subjective Measures of Stress

Subjective measures of stress, categorized as 'Psychological' and 'Physical,' are explained below.

• Psychological Stress

The measurements that do not require activation and instead focus on the mental state. The Measurements obtained from physiological measures or sensors are validated using these stress measures. Measurements of abstract ideas like language, intellect, and emotion are the focus of psychology. It is commonly acknowledged that psychological factors play a role in stress response. As a result, psychological surveys can be used to measure stress [8].

Numerous surveys have been created by psychologists that can evaluate a person's degree of stress based on their reported symptoms. A relative stress scale [17], brief symptom inventory [18] positive affect and negative affect schedule [19], daily stress inventory [20], and the life stress interview, as well as the visual analog mood scales [21], the trier inventory for evaluating chronic stress and others may be among these questionnaires. A psychological tool called the STAI is mainly employed to measure perceived stress [22].

Although psychological questionnaires that measure perceived stress can assess stress subjectively, there are some situations where objective measurements of stress are more useful than self-reported measures since self-report may be skewed. In general, using checklists cannot approach the accuracy of a skilled interviewer in examining research questions [23]. Interviews can be used to get more accurate data than self-reports, which are produced independently. Even when responding to unfavorable questions on surveys, individuals describe pleasant occurrences [23]. Although these techniques are useful, there are cultural and language difficulties. but because competent interviewers may elicit descriptive information on the intensity of events across time, interview approaches offer various insights into stress assessment. Interviewers with training can make connections between similar problems and situations.

• Physical Stress

Physical measurements are observable from the outside since they are related to one's behavior. Any attribute visible to the naked eye is called a physical quality. However, measuring stress and anxiety related to studying mathematics requires sophisticated tools and sensors, relying on gesture recognition [24]. Another research looked at pupil instances, yawning, and facial expressions during the day and night to gauge how tired the drivers were [25]. The detection of stress utilizing both internal and external stressors has been accomplished using video-recorded facial expressions [26].

The distinction between the valid pupil diameter and the blink is the most recent and may potentially be an indication of stress [27]. While a lower blink frequency is thought to be the cause of stress. Another study shows a higher blink frequency has been linked to stressful situations [28]. Recently, an objective measure of depression and stress was developed in aphasia patients by using speech features [29]. The two main speech features for detecting stress are rapid fluctuation and an expansion of the frequency range [30]. Table 1 presents the physical techniques used to measure stress.

Physical Measures	Technology
Facial Expression [25]	Facial Movements
Body Language [24]	Automated Gestures Recognition
Lip, Mouth, and Head Movements [26]	Camera-based photoplethysmography
Communication Disorder [29]	Speech Pattern Analysis
Infrared Eye Tracking [27]	Eye Movement

Table 1: Physical Techniques Used to Measure Stress

1.4.2 Objective Measures of Stress

Objective measures of stress categorized as 'Physiological' are explained below.

• Physiological Stress

Since they are automatic, it is challenging to measure them, the physiological measurements are related to a person's typical bodily functions. Since they are automatic, it is challenging to measure them, the physiological measurements are related to a person's typical bodily functions. These entail the affixing of certain instruments to a person to track alterations in the body's physiological characteristics. The autonomic nervous system (ANS) oversees controlling the body's involuntary movements. This ANS comprises sympathetic (SNS) and parasympathetic (PNS) neural systems. The activity rates in SNS and PNS are inversely proportional. So, an increase in SNS during stressful situations decreases the activity rate in PNS, which represents the body's resting state. SNS and PNS control blood pressure, brain waves, galvanic skin response (GSR), and heart rate variability. These are the important variables to consider while assessing stress [31]. To accurately assess stress, galvanic skin response (GSR) can be employed [32]. It is an illustration of how well electricity flows through the skin. Electrodes are positioned on the hand's first and middle fingers to measure it. The body's skin resistance diminishes when a person is under stress. This situation occurs because of the skin's increased moisture [23]. Julius et al. explain the physiological alterations that stress causes in the skin [33]. GSR might be seen as a crucial metric for workload evaluation [34]. GSR characteristics have been used to calculate stress in a variety of scenarios [35].

It is common practice to evaluate ANS activity using heart rate variability (HRV) [36]. It is considered one of the key measures of stress [37]. An ideal way to test HRV is with an electrocardiogram (ECG), which is extremely sensitive to heartbeat detection [38]. The graph of ECG is used to depict the electrical activity of the cardiac muscles that are being recorded. It is determined by attaching electrodes to a person's

body on each side of the heart. Stress is often assessed using HRV's low- and high-frequency bands. Shorter-term HRV is a good indicator of acute stress [39].

Researchers have found a link between rising stress levels and rising blood pressure. Recent research [40] found that acute stress tasks had an impact on blood pressure. Photoplethysmography (PPG), which is obtained from a finger, can be used to calculate an individual's Blood Volume Pulse (BVP). By projecting infrared light, a PPG measures the light that is reflected off the finger. Depending on how much blood is within, this light is reflected. PPG sensors are used in industrial stress monitoring systems [41]. A measurement of muscular action potentials is electromyography (EMG). To detect stress, EMG electrodes are positioned on the shoulder. Another stress indicator for people used to monitoring by having a belt around their chest is respiration. However, compared to HRV and GSR, respiration monitoring is invasive and does not function well as a stress indicator [42].

Stress and brain activity are strongly correlated [43]. EEG is often employed in published studies on the human brain in the modes listed above [44]. It is the most widely utilized method for studying brain disorders and functioning economically. It is a technique that measures brain activity objectively and precisely. From electrodes positioned on the human scalp, it obtains various waves [45]. High temporal resolution and superior mobility are features of EEG sensors and since the brain is where the stress reaction originates, EEG becomes an important signal for the analysis, recognition, and accurate measurement of human stress [46].

Technology Name	Physiological Measures	
Galvanic Skin Response (GSR) [32]	Skin Response	
Electrocardiography (ECG) [39]	Electric Activity of Heart	
Photoplethysmography (PPG) [41]	Blood Volume Pressure	
Electrodermal Activity (EDA) [47]	Skin Response	
Electroencephalography (EEG) [44]	Brain Electrical Activity	

Table 2: List of Physiological Techniques Used to Measure Stress

Numerous techniques have been created to measure and evaluate the amount of stress, whether they are based on questionnaires, surveys, or the observation of persons who measure changes in physiological signals as depicted in Table 2.

These two techniques are well known for their accuracy and contributions to both spatial and temporal resolution. Invasive treatments have drawbacks in some cases, such as hormone analysis, which highlights the need for non-invasive, efficient, accurate, and trustworthy methodologies. Table 3 shows different non-invasive procedures can identify stress from human physiological signals.

Non-Invasive Methods	Advantages	Limitations	
Magnetoencephalography (MEG)	High spatial resolution	Very high cost	
Galvanic Skin Response (GSR)	Affordable and readily available	Diurnal fluctuations can affect results based on the time of assessment	
Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)	Good to high spatial resolution	Slow temporal response due to blood supply delay	
Blood Volume Pulse (BVP)	Non-intrusive and cost- effective	Requires individual calibration and is prone to drift over short periods	
Electroencephalography (EEG)	Excellent temporal resolution, low cost, and safe	Limited spatial resolution and susceptibility to noise	

 Table 3: List of Non-Invasive physiological Techniques Used to identify Stress

Electrocardiography (ECG)	Widely accessible equipment validated accuracy across populations	Lower sensitivity compared to other stress imaging techniques, poor specificity
Blood Pressure (BP)	Easy to use, reproducible results, sensitive measurement, normative data available	Lack of prospective mortality data, limiting its use for treatment decisions
Electromyography (EMG)	Reliable and accurate for measuring muscle activity	Lower clinical yield in some cases, technical challenges with obesity and advanced age, complex signal interpretation

1.5 The Evolution of Comedy as a Cultural Phenomenon

Comedy generation and perception is a biological process, a cognitive phenotypic attribute likely dependent on a genetically grounded neural substrate. Comedy has undoubtedly existed for thousands of years if not millions of years. Early anthropologists overheard an amusing conversation, during their first encounter with Australian Aboriginal people. Second, for at least 35,000 years, Australian Aboriginals appear to have been genetically isolated [48]. If genetic factors determine the fundamental ability to perceive or make comedy (and convergent evolution does not apply), 35,000 years may be the minimum age for comedy.

1.5.1 Understanding the Role of Comedy in Social Dynamics

The ability to recognize Humour appears to be "instinctive", and so reliant on genetic mechanisms. Comedy is difficult to learn without the aid of a network of specialized brain pathways and a corresponding cognitive module. It is generally a combination of precise language wording and a thorough understanding of current social dynamics that determines whether something is hilarious or not. Most of the literature focuses on internal techniques

for detecting comedians' appraisals via physiological markers. Given the complexity of comedy as a cognitive activity, it is no surprise that the bulk of comedy research based on physiological measurements has used brain-imaging techniques. The evaluation of stand-up comedians, as well as comic production, has been widely examined utilizing fMRI tests [49]. Another approach that has been effectively employed in stand-up comic research is magnetoencephalography (MEG), which has been used to locate humor-specific brain activations and investigate their temporal sequence [50]. One advantage of MEG over fMRI is its superior temporal resolution. While these discoveries shed light on the brain activity associated with comedian appraisal, both fMRI and MEG need room-size sensors, making them unsuitable for real-world use.

Although Electrodermal Activity (EDA) is one of the most normally employed signals in psychophysiology, there has been little research into how it might be used to detect comedians' assessments. Finkelstein et al. [51], classified emotions using EDA in conjunction with several other physiological markers, one of which was amusement. The ECG depicts the electrical activity of the heart. The heart rate and heart rate variability (HRV), which are connected to both parasympathetic and sympathetic nervous system activity and have been related to mental workload [47], are the most common parameters extracted from ECG. Fiacconi and Owen [52] investigated the temporal profile of Humour evaluation, finding that it was associated with a slowing in heart rate followed by an acceleration in heart rate.

1.5.2 Humour as a Tool for Stress Management

Stress plays a significant role in our daily lives since it is involved in almost every action, yet we tend to pay only a little bit of attention to it. [53] Humour then plays an important role in the field too, that it can serve as a healing tool. [54] Study says that both Humour and exposure to humorous events can be found to reduce anxiety and produce positive effects as a response. [55] but the ability to demonstrate this response through a sense of Humour has yet to be explored and stated with confidence. [56] and using Humour socially can be a helpful tool for people too thus they will obtain social support [57].

1.6 Research Motivation

Now stress and anxiety are growing more and more dangerous for Pakistani youth. According to a report by Tribune Pakistan, over 34 percent of Pakistanis experience anxiety [58]. The stigma associated with common mental diseases persists in Pakistan despite the grave condition.

Whereas stress exists in everyday life and sometimes can last for a very short period, it becomes a concern when it starts interfering with the productivity and health of a person. Excessive stress or anxiety results in fundamental changes in behavior and cognitive function and may culminate into serious mental health issues such as depression if left unheeded early. It is, therefore, very important to detect early warning signals of stress to avert such consequences. EEG is suitable for this investigation process due to its affordability and noninvasive nature, hence one of the most common tools employed in various stress-detection research.

1.7 Problem Statement

Our research aims to profile participants by investigating whether stress that TSST first induces can be later reduced through watching Native Language, and Non-Native language, standup comedy clips while using the Neurosky Mindwave Mobile 2, an EEG device to capture brain signals and apply statistical analysis to test their significance.

1.8 Research Objectives

The thesis aims to use a commercially accessible EEG-based brain-computer interface to evaluate and classify human stress. The objectives of this study are:

• To record a real-time dataset of EEG signals by inducing stress using the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) and investigate the impact of exposure to English and Hindi comedy videos on stress reduction.

- To analyze changes in EEG patterns, particularly focusing on frequency bands, before and after exposure to comedy videos.
- To compare EEG data between participants exposed to English and Hindi comedy videos to determine potential differences in stress reduction efficacy.
- To study which brain waves are associated with stress levels in the brain.

1.9 Thesis Structure

The thesis is structured in a way that Chapter 2 forms the core of the previous work about stress analysis using EEG. More detailed information is provided on the types of stimuli used for inducing and reducing stress. It also refers to the existing gaps in the literature that the current research study will aim to fill. Chapter 3 outlines the proposed experimental methodology, detailing the tools and techniques that would be used to collect data, which broadly includes the usage of the Trier Social Stress Test along with the pre-processing steps, such as noise removal techniques and signal filters, to prepare the collected EEG data for analysis. Chapter 4 will present and discuss those findings derived from the application of the methods described above, thereby showing evidence of the reduction in stress utilizing multilingual Humour through data provided by EEG devices. Finally, the last chapter, Chapter 5, will draw conclusions about the results found, discuss the limitations found in the development of research work, and suggest future lines that, after solving limitations, may help deepen the knowledge of the use of EEG as an intervention methodology for the management of stress.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Stress is measured in a variety of ways, such as psychologically, physically, and physiologically. An EEG is a physiological tool that accurately measures brain activity. EEG signal processing is a new and exciting area of brain-computer interface technology. This chapter discusses the types and paradigms of brain-computer interfaces as well.

2.1 Multilingual Humour and Emotional Processing

The relationship between Humour and sentiment or emotions has also been explored [59]. This way a single task can show improvement in both monolingual and multilingual settings [60]. It is seen that Humour serves as a form of mastery over a given language [61]. The main purpose is to understand the difference between how people take Humour [62].

2.1.1 Cognitive Impacts of Multilingualism

Multilingualism has also been related to heightened cognitive flexibility, especially a 'switching ability' from one task to another or between mental sets following changing demands [63]. This type of cognitive flexibility is of special relevance to problem-solving and adjusting to novelty and provides people with multilingual competence with enhanced adaptability in handling complex environments. Indeed, overall, bilingual and multilingual participants exhibit performance benefits relative to monolingual participants when performing tasks that tap aspects of cognitive control and flexibility, such as tasks modelled on task-switching paradigms and working memory tasks [64].

Several studies have also indicated that multilingualism promotes problem-solving since multilingual individuals can view problems from different perspectives. For example, in the study [65] it was found that in comparison bilingual children had a higher cognitive flexibility than monolingual children, suggesting that managing multiple languages enhances brain function. Also, in another study, [66] it was pointed out that multilingual persons tend to show a higher degree of performance in solving logic puzzles, along with other cognitive tasks that require the person to think outside of the box and be flexible.

Overall multilingualism not only helps in proficiency in languages but provides much greater cognitive flexibility, better problem-solving ability, and more brilliant expression of emotions those factors that are so important in both individual and professional life in a world with increasingly global intercourse [63], [65].

2.1.2 EEG-Based Studies on Stress and Humour

Research has found that individuals with higher dispositional optimism showed that positive Humour reduces anxiety levels [67]. Electrode position and EEG parameters can be differentiated between tasks and relaxation periods with the θ and α bands being particularly significant [68] and the demonstration can show a negative effect, tension, and psychological reactivity to stress regardless of an individual's use of Humour [69] The best positions for the use of electrodes to distinguish between the performed tasks and arousal levels were F3 and P4 [70]. Lastly, it is found that a sense of Humour can easily moderate the effects of stressful events of depressive symptoms but not anxiety [71].

2.2 Applications of EEG in brain-computer interface (BCI) Systems

Designing BCI applications for both healthy and impaired people is now viable because of the accessibility of inexpensive commercially available EEG headsets. Data collection, preprocessing, feature extraction, selection, and classification are all steps in processing EEG signals. The basis of a brain-computer interface system consists of these actions. EEG is the modality that non-invasive BCI devices employ the most. These BCIs fall into one of three categories: spontaneous, evoked, or passive BCIs. Evoked BCIs operate on EEG signals that are produced in reaction to certain environmental stimuli. In [52], the invasive method was used on a human subject for the first time. Signals from the electrodes inserted under the skull are recorded using the electrocorticogram (ECoG), a less invasive method that is less noisy than EEG signals due to the position of their electrodes, although they still need surgery [72].

2.2.1 Using EEG for Stress Detection and Reduction

Comedy clips or emotion detection can be used for stress reduction through EEG because they can elicit different emotional responses that can be measured through EEG

signals. EEG signals are frequently employed in stress detection research and are one of the most used techniques for stress and other mental state assessments. However, there is only one study to the best of our knowledge that uses FFT in response to horror video clips and then uses an IQ test to evaluate their stress level [73]. This study proposes a system for stress classification using EEG signals acquired from an Interaxon Muse headband device. The EEG signals were recorded from stress and non-stress subjects while they watched four movie clips, two of which were chosen to induce stress and the other two to induce relaxation. The recorded signals were then used to build the stress classification model, and the classification of stress was achieved with a maximum accuracy of 80.5% using the theta/beta ratio. From these studies, it can be suggested that comedy clips can influence the stress levels of every individual participating in this study [73].

Additionally, there is another recently published study that analyzes EEG recording during and after TSST of 44 healthy men [74]. The study found that during TSST, there was an increase in low-frequency Delta band frequency, while Beta bands, Theta, and Gamma 1 oscillations decreased, particularly in the frontal region. Additionally, the study observed changes in nonlinear features such as approximate entropy, spectral entropy, and Katz fractal dimension. These changes indicated that stress increased low-frequency oscillations and decreased high-frequency oscillations and complexity indices during TSST. However, all changes returned to baseline after TSST except for an increase in Katz in the F3 channel after the recovery period. From this study, it can be implicated that TSST can be used as a stress inducer.

The use of stand-up comedy clips to reduce stress in a diverse population is not just a novel approach to EEG research, it is an essential one. This fact is intended to be used to create a sufficiently large open-source raw EEG dataset, as standup comedy clips are viewed by people of all ages and genders worldwide. The primary objective of this study is to offer a multimodal dataset that modulates both effective stress and emotions. The simultaneous regulation of effective stress and its effects on mental state and artifact generation have not yet been studied in publicly available datasets. The second objective of this research is to build a dataset that replicates real-time brain signal recording with the help of a single channel

headset and a realistic task environment (by watching stand-up comedy clips and performing TSST), with the help of BCIs, this task can be accomplished.

2.3 Measuring Stress Using Questionnaires

Measuring stress using questionnaires is one of the most widely accepted tools in psychological research [75]. These self-report questionnaires allow for quantifying subjective perceptions about individuals feeling stress, anxiety, and other allied emotional states [76]. An overview of some of the commonly used measures of stress assessments and a comparative study of work using different questionnaires are presented here [77].

2.3.1 Overview of Common Stress Assessment Tools

Various standardized questionnaires exist to measure the stress levels in populations [78]. First, these were validated and then used clinically and in research to assess stress and psychological effects. They ensure data is reliable and consistent, thus deepening health outcomes regarding stress [79]. The main assessment tools include:

- **Perceived Stress Scale (PSS):** The PSS, by Cohen et al., was developed in 1983 to give the ability to measure the perception of a person concerning stress [80]. It captures the degree that persons feel their life is unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloaded [81]. The PSS has gained wide acceptance since it gives reasonably reliable results across wide populations, even among those with multilingual backgrounds [81].
- State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI): The STAI was developed by Spielberger et al. in 1983 to differentiate between state anxiety and trait anxiety. It is especially effective in measuring immediate emotional reactions to situations that may cause stress [82].
- **Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS):** This set of self-questionnaires addresses the emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress. Its comprehensive nature makes it suitable for measuring the different effects of interventions like multilingual Humour on stress such as the Trier Social Stress Test [83].

2.3.2 Comparative Analysis of Questionnaire Studies

A comparison of various studies carried out with the use of these questionnaires indeed brings many important insights into the efficiency of Humour as a coping mechanism during stress management [84]. For example, research has established that multilingual Humour may drastically lower perceived levels of stress and anxiety, according to PSS and STAI, in contrast with the control groups, which did not experience any Humour treatment [85].

Comparing stress questionnaires across cultures has suggested that the efficiency of these questionnaires might vary between cultural contexts, thus underlining the relevance of culturally sensitive approaches to stress measurement [83]. For instance, the DASS performed differently in multilingual populations, and specific adaptations had to be made for it to be valid and reliable [86].

2.4 Measuring Stress Using EEG

Electroencephalography is considered a meaningful way of quantifying stress since the electrical activity it measures in the brain is directly produced by different types of stressors [87]. This tool has a higher degree of accuracy compared with self-report questionnaires, which are prone to subjective elements and biases, for it provides direct measurements of neural responses; hence, this is a very powerful tool in investigating states of stress [88].

2.4.1 Advantages of EEG in Stress Measurement

EEG provides very high temporal resolution and, as such, allows rapid changes in brain activity related to the stress responses to be captured [89]. This is a very important ability when investigating immediate consequences of stress-inducing stimuli, for example, those included in the Trier Social Stress Test [90].

Various patterns of brain waves concerning different frequency bands-for example, delta, theta, alpha, beta-have been considered where studies indicated that EEG is quite effective in recognizing the different states of stress in mental states [91]. While increased theta and alpha activities have already been attributed to high levels of stress, beta activity may reflect general relaxation or active engagement [92].

EEG will present a closer look and completeness of how stress acts on the brain over time, in comparison with generally applied methods like HRV and skin conductance [93]. By tracing changes in brain wave activity, EEG can reveal the processing of the brain behind the stress responses [94].

2.4.2 Integrating EEG with Self-Report Measures for Stress Assessment

Besides understanding stress responses, EEG data is often combined with selfreported levels of stress derived from questionnaires. The two-pronged approach allows researchers to check EEG findings against the subjective experiences of stress and make a well-rounded judgment of stress levels [95].

Previous studies indicate that when EEG is integrated with self-report measures, accuracy in the detection of stress improves compared to relying on either method in isolation.

For example, [91] achieved a 98.76% classification accuracy stress by manipulating EEG signals with self-reported levels of stress.

Further, this integration helps to overcome several of the potential limitations of selfreport methods, which are inherently subjective and vulnerable to anchoring biases while also confirming the validity of EEG as a means of quantifying the level of stress. Combining objective physiological measures with subjective ones provides the researcher with a broader perspective on the reactions underlying stress responses [96].

2.5 Overview of Social Stress

Social stress refers to a mixture of both psychological and physiological responses whenever a person feels he or she is being evaluated in any given situation. This type of stress is viewed as surfacing ultimately in the forms of anxiety, with a racing heart, and hormonal changes. Grasping social stress may be regarded as of significance because it might lead to severe mental problems, such as anxiety disorders and depression, in addition to general health effects.

2.5.1 The Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) Protocol

The Trier Social Stress Test is a well-known experimental laboratory technique for the induction of moderate psychosocial stress. The method was developed in 1993 by Kirschbaum, Pirke, and Hellhammer. TSST belongs to the basic tools of investigation for the acute stress response in humans, offering a chance to research its physiological, psychological, and behavioral effects [97].

• Description of TSST

Research has proved that TSST is a proper induction procedure for HPA and SAM axes activation, with an increase in cortisol and other stress hormones. This has been applied to a very wide field of research investigating different factors modulating stress responses—including gender, genes, and personality—but it can be used more broadly in psychobiological research.

Also, multiple variations of the TSST have been developed, such as group versions of the TSST and virtual reality versions, further expanding the applicability of the paradigm and meeting special research requirements. These modifications, therefore, share the key elements of the original paradigm but increase the number of participants that can be tested at one time and reduce variability in the stress responses by including social interactions.

• Physiological and Psychological Impact

It has been demonstrated that the TSST is a reliable activation procedure for both the HPA axis and the SAM axis, giving rise to increased cortisol and other stress hormones. The paradigm has been applied in investigating multiple factors modulating the stress response, variables that range from things like gender, genetics, and personality, thereby underlining the versatility of the tool in psychobiological research.

Finally, several adaptations of the TSST have been made to increase its general applicability and better address specific research needs, including a group version, TSST-G, and virtual reality versions, TSST-VR. These retain the basic elements of the original procedure but allow greater participant throughput and, due to social interactions, reduce variability in stress responses.

2.6 Scalp EEG and Signal Processing Techniques

Now since EEG data directly reflects the electrical activity of the brain, stress levels may be classified using this information [98]. Most often, a dense placement of EEG electrodes is necessary for an accurate assessment of stress using EEG [99]. A wearable EEG that is discrete, portable, and may be utilized for extended periods is needed to monitor stress in the activities of everyday life. Clinically dense EEG systems with 32, 64, or 128 channels do not meet these criteria. However, it has been demonstrated that a single-channel EEG headset can also be used to detect stress satisfactorily [100].

Numerous free and paid resources are available to support the advancement of BCI. Every platform offers benefits of its own based on what is needed for an experiment. A wide range of tools for BCI development is available either for free or for purchase. Every platform offers benefits of its own based on what is needed for an experiment. Online processing on DataSuite, FieldTrip, BCI2000, or OpenViBE systems uses the BCILAB toolkit [101]. To do this, it might be thought of as an EEGLAB plug-in extension. A toolset called BioSig is built on MATLAB/Octave [102]. Table 4 gives a list of BCI headsets that are marketed and easily accessible.

Headset	Sampling Rate	No. of	Data	Operating
Companies	(samples/sec)	Channels	Transfer	Time (hours)
			Mode	
Freedom 24D	300	20	Bluetooth	12
EMOTIV (Insight)	128	5	Wireless	4
quasar DSI	240 or 960	12	Wireless	24
COGNIONICS	1000	20	Bluetooth	8
EMOTIV (Epoc+)	128 or 256 2048 (internal)	14	Wireless	12

 Table 4: Specifications of commercially available BCI headsets

Commercial BCI headset systems based on EEG are on the market. Many businesses have produced their headset systems, including PLX Devices, Neurosky, Myn- dPlay, IMEC, g.tec, Emotiv, OCZ Technology, and Congnionics. These businesses provide a variety of tools and apps in addition to these headset systems.

2.7 Identification of Research Gaps

While the stress effect on brain activity is relatively well documented, the interaction between these established techniques—the Trier Social Stress Test, EEG, and various forms of stress reduction, among them humor—is virtually unexplored. These areas have been studied
in isolation from one another: that of TSST-induced stress responses, and that of the effects of Humour on mood and brain function. In the current review, effects have generally been considered in isolation, either in terms of stress induction or the potential benefits of humor.

Notably, no research has combined stress induction with subsequent reduction through Humour to study their joint effect on brain activity. More specifically, no study has been conducted so far to examine whether the stress caused by the TSST can indeed be effectively attenuated by exposure to comedy, as indexed by changes in EEG power across different frequency bands to the best of our knowledge.

This important gap will be filled by the current study, which aims to investigate the neural mechanisms of both the induction and reduction of stress using EEG. In this study, the TSST was combined with a design in which participants were exposed to comedy videos in two languages (native vs. non-native), providing a new window into how Humour might exert modulatory effects on the brain's response to acute stress. These findings may enhance our understanding of stress control techniques and support the development of EEG-based interventions for stress alleviation.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes the research methodology of the thesis in detail. The tools and techniques used to implement the research are described below.

3.1 Overview

This study employed a systematic approach to analyze EEG data to explore the effects of multilingual Humour on stress reduction. The proposed methodology consists of the following main modules:

- Data Exploration
- EEG Data Collection and Acquisition
- Signal Pre-processing
- Feature Extraction
- Statistical Analysis

The EEG data was sourced from participants exposed to the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) and subsequent Humour intervention, processed to minimize noise and artifacts, and analysed to extract meaningful spectral features. Statistical tests were then applied to determine the effects of Humour on stress indicators in EEG signals.

While previous studies have explored the effects of the TSST on brain activity using EEG and the potential of Humour to modulate brain function, no study has combined these elements to examine the neural mechanisms underlying stress induction and reduction using comedy videos. This research aims to fill this gap by investigating whether comedy videos can effectively reduce stress induced by the TSST as measured by changes in EEG activity.

3.2 Data Exploration

This study processes data which mainly falls into time-series EEG signals obtained from each subject. Numerical is the main data type used in the dataset, and its mainly integer data with a floating data type. In this dataset, discrete values are represented by using an integer datatype while continuous variables are represented by using floats, especially in the measurements of EEG signals for precision. The following section lists specific Python packages and modules used in processing and analysing these data types.

3.3 Python Libraries

Python is a prevalent programming language, particularly in data science. Numerous libraries are open to the public. In addition, it is being developed and maintained by a larger community. Therefore, if anyone encounters a problem, there is a greater chance of finding a solution [103, 104]. Multiple libraries have been employed in this study to analyse and predict client behavior based on purchases. Libraries with their applications are mentioned below in Table 5.

 Table 5: Detail of python libraries that are used in this project and mentioning the purpose of utilizing the packages

Library	Usage	
Numpy	Facilitates efficient operations on multi-dimensional arrays.	
Pandas	Essential for data analysis tasks such as importing, cleaning, and integrating datasets.	
Seaborn	Enhances data visualization with visually appealing graphs.	
Matplotlib	Core tool for plotting and data visualization.	
Plotly	Offers extensive customization and interactivity for data visualization.	

3.4 EEG Data Collection and Acquisition

3.4.1 Participants Details

The case study recruited a total of 40 healthy volunteers of which 20 were male and 20 were female aged between 18-25 years. All the subjects were students in a public sector higher education institute enrolled in different programs. They were all healthy individuals and had no known mental health conditions. A written consent was signed by all the individuals to participate in the case study. To minimize any biases, the participants were equally divided between male and female, and there were an equal number of people who watched native-language comedy videos and native-language comedy videos.

• Participant Demographics

The demographic composition of samples is thus relatively homogenous and balanced, and hence results are generalizable. The participants came from a wide range of academic disciplines, including sciences, engineering, humanities, and social sciences, helping to illustrate diverse sources of stress responses across groups. This is essential for examining differences in stress levels and Humour perception across different academic environments.

3.4.2 Selection of Video Stimuli

Stand-up comedy videos were used in both native (Urdu) and non-native (English) languages as an external stimulus for estimating whether stress can be reduced after inducing it, based on EEG signals. Both video clips were selected on the same topic, "Parents," using YouTube ratings from their respective countries to minimize potential biases. For the English experiment, we used a popular comedy clip of Jimmy O Yang, who is regarded as one of the most important and influential stand-up comedians of all time in America, and for the Urdu experiment, we used a comedy clip of Zakir Khan, who is known professionally as one of the most acknowledged comedians. A clip of one minute from each video track was utilized as a stimulant to avoid boredom during the experiment.

3.4.3 Procedure of TSST

The standard TSST procedure comprises two key phases: an anticipation phase followed by a test phase. Participants are briefed on the impending stress during the anticipation phase, which increases anxiety. Note that this is followed by a test phase in which participants are requested to make a mock job interview and conduct mental arithmetic tasks in front of an audience, often consisting of evaluators who do not give any feedback. Normally, the combination of social evaluation with cognitive challenge would yield a robust stress response, marked by clearly increasing cortisol, heart rate, and other physiological markers of stress as a result.

3.4.4 EEG Data Recording and Signal Classification

The procedures for recording the EEG data and various methods of signal classification are discussed below.

Classification of EEG Frequency Bands

The most common way of describing scalp EEG involves five frequency bands: alpha, beta, gamma, delta, and theta. Each frequency band corresponds to appropriate brain states at distinct moments in time [106]. These frequency rhythms are described in more detail in Table 6 below.

Band	Frequency
Gamma	30 - 100 Hz
Beta	12 - 30 Hz
Alpha	8 - 12 Hz
Theta	4 - 7 Hz
Delta	0.1 - 3 Hz

 Table 6: Frequency bands in the EEG signal [107]

Figure 1 illustrates the appearance of each frequency band in an EEG recording.

Gamma and beta waves are characterized by closely spaced, concentrated oscillations indicative of high mental activity. Alpha waves are slower, suggesting a relaxed state of mind. Theta waves reflect a dreamy or meditative mental activity, while delta waves are the slowest and are associated with sleep cycles [106].



Figure 1: Brain Waves classification [107]

• Apparatus: Neurosky MindWave Mobile 2 Headset

The dataset was gathered using a single-channel device for our research on this stimulus. Before starting the experiment, the participants wore the single-channel Neurosky Mindwave Mobile 2 headset. The sensor was positioned on the F p1 location by the 10-20 international EEG placement system, while the reference electrode was affixed perpendicular to the earlobe [105]. The system has made use of dry electrode technology from the Thinkgear application-specific integrated circuit module (TGAM). It has a 3-100 Hz bandwidth and operates at a minimum voltage of 2.7V. The silver TGAM electrodes are appropriate for non-hairy regions. The wearable headset is geared up to record discrete EEG data at a sampling rate of up to 512 Hz. It has a simple algorithm and the ability to capture raw EEG.



Figure 2: Neurosky Mindwave Mobile 2 headset

3.1.2 Experimental Design

First, all the subjects were asked to come one by one into the lab, where after they wore the EEG single-channel device, they were asked to fill out the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS)-21 item questionnaire [108] and then sit in a relaxed position, close their eyes for 1 minute, and then open their eye and blink normally for 1 minute while the EEG is captured.

The single-channel EEG device was used to capture the recordings throughout the experiment. EEG was recorded before, after, and during TSST. All the schematic steps of the study are represented in Figure 3. There are three parts of TSST. To begin with, the subjects were asked to think of a topic randomly assigned to them in under 1 minute, then they had to give a speech on that topic in front of two examiners with serious expressions. Finally, they were asked to solve a mental mathematics problem in which they had to subtract 13 from 1022 continuously until they reached zero in 1 minute. When they were giving the speech, they were asked by the examiners to keep on talking and they told them how much time was still left, while they were doing the mental mathematics problem, if they got stuck in between or answered incorrectly the examiners just told them to start again. The Depression Anxiety

Stress Scale (DASS)-21 item questionnaire [108] was used before, during, and after TSST to determine the subjects' emotional state.



Figure 3: Experimental procedure

Each participant received a thorough explanation of the experiment before beginning, but to minimize the risk of bias, participants were asked not to disclose the procedure to others.

3.1.3 Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Questionnaire

The DASS questionnaire was used to record stress, anxiety, and depression levels along with each baseline. First, it was taken at the start of the experiment and then everyone filled out their questionnaire after the TSST experiment at the end after watching the comedy video the questionnaire was again filled out to check whether their answers to self-report measures had changed from the previous ones. The scale for each level of depression, anxiety, and stress were mentioned in the questionnaire. Symptoms are scored from least to most severe as follows: The scores for the Depression scale range from a normal of 0-9, and a score of 10-13 indicates mild depression. Scores ranging from 14-20 reflect moderate depression. Scores ranging from 21-27 indicate severe depression. A score of 28 and above is ranked as extremely severe depression. The scores on the Anxiety scale range from 0 to 7, 8 to 9 for mild anxiety, 10 to 14 for moderate anxiety, 15 to 19 for severe anxiety, and 20 and above for extremely severe anxiety. Finally, the Stress scale scores have a normal range from 0 to 14, 15-18 for mild stress, 19-25 for moderate, 26-33 for severe, and scores above 34 indicate extremely severe stress.

An example of this can be if some have got above 20 for stress, more than 28 score for depression, and above 15 for anxiety as their score so it means they are under extreme stress, depression, and anxiety. The questions had already been pre-assigned to all the measures, so the respective questions with the score scale just had to be checked to match and find out their levels. After scoring, the sum for each of the three scales (Depression, Anxiety, Stress) is multiplied by 2 to make the results comparable with the full DASS, which has 42 items.

3.1.4 Structure and Components of the DASS-21

The shorter alternative version of the DASS questionnaire contains 21 items in total, with seven items per emotional state. This version is designed for easy scoring but is still able to give valuable insight into the amount of psychological distress a person has experienced. In DASS-21, the scoring requires a simple computation of adding the scores of the relevant items, multiplied by two, to arrive at the equivalent scores of DASS-42.

Respondents indicate how much each symptom has applied to them over the past week on a four-point Likert scale (0 = 'Did not apply to me at all' to 3 = 'Applied to me very much or most of the time' as shown in table 7.

Score	Severity	Description
0	Did not apply to me at all	Never
1	Applied to me to some degree, or some of the time	Occasionally
2	Applied to me to a considerable degree, or a good part of the time	Often
3	Applied to me very much, or most of the time	Almost Always

Table 7: Scoring Scale of DASS-21

3.2 Signal Pre-Processing

The signal processing techniques used in our work are given below:

3.2.1 Noise Filtering and Artifact Removal

The SciPy package is used as a filter to remove muscular and ocular artifacts. These were low pass, median pass, and high pass filters. Savitzky-Golay and wavelet denoising filters were used for smoothing and denoising. Firstly, Python code was used to convert the raw data into filtered data, removing the background noise. These data were further strained using high and low pass filters.

Butterworth filters were used. This is because Butterworth is used for a flat bandpass frequency response. Figure 4 depicts the first participant's one-minute EEG signals of the first activity. The effectiveness of Independent Component Analysis (ICA) in mitigating ocular artifacts in single-channel devices lacks substantial research support. As a result, the Savitzky-Golay filter [109] was utilized to address noise artifacts.



Figure 5: Filtered EEG data of subject 01

Figures 4 and 5 display the raw EEG signals, followed by the effects of applying the bandpass filter and the Savitzky-Golay filter, highlighting the selected settings for optimal noise reduction and artifact removal.

Everyone had 10 EEG readings each, and all 40 subjects' EEG data from all trials underwent individual signal processing steps to enhance the quality of EEG data and minimize the impact of noise and artifacts on the results. The preprocessing pipeline consisted of procedures designed to ensure the high quality and reliability of the data. DC offset removal had been initially performed to center the signal around zero. The preprocessing comprised filtering of the signals in the 0.3-48.0 Hz band, observation of the graphical visual representation of individual signals, and the removal of artifacts by application of a bandpass—highcut and lowcut— filter used for removal of the high-frequency noise and slow drifts in the signal and the Savitzky-Golay filter. The relative power extraction (each band power to the sum of total power bands) was done using linear analysis using Welch's method.

3.3 Data Analysis Techniques

Data analysis techniques are considered some of the most important techniques to transform raw data into meaningful insights, especially in studies involving physiological measurements such as EEG [110]. This study utilizes multiple techniques of data analysis for interpreting recorded EEG during stress induction followed by induced humor. These statistical methods, used in concert and complemented by frequency domain analyses, may provide even greater insight into neural processes involved in stress responses and the beneficial effects of Humour [111].

3.3.1 Feature Extraction Methodologies

The features extracted from the EEG data were conducted through the frequency domain. While this domain provides valuable insights into neural networks and contributes to overall analysis, there is no universally standardized set of features in literature for this domain as feature selection is specific to the respective experiment setup and its objectives. The details of which are given below:

3.3.2 Analysis of Frequency Domain Features

The FAST Time Fourier (FFT) was used to convert from time to the frequency domain and extract features from the frequency domain. Features are extracted from the frequency domain, in this way that it breaks down the signals in its frequencies which will help the researchers to analyze the power and distribution of these frequencies over time. Studying the frequency domain offers insights into the oscillatory activity and rhythmic patterns of brain waves which are related to various cognitive and physiological states. Understanding how different frequency components influence overall brain function and how specific frequency bands relate to processes and behaviors is crucial.

• Power Spectral Density (PSD)

Power Spectral Density is an invaluable tool in analytical EEG work as it approximates how the power of an EEG signal is divided between frequency components and can give insight into many different aspects of brain activity across the broad spectrum of its frequency bands. PSD measures the power at each frequency of a continuum signal, which makes it of much importance in the study of neural oscillations such as delta, theta, alpha, beta, and gamma waves. In this work, Welch's Method was used to estimate the power spectral density (PSD) of the EEG signals, to analyze EEG data effectively. This approach gives a smooth estimate of the power spectrum and enables us to see how the power is distributed with respect to frequency. Following this, relative PSDs were obtained by normalizing each PSD to the total sum of all PSDs.

Band Power Extraction

Band power is obtained by summing PSD values over specific frequency bands. The frequency spectrum was divided into delta (0–4 Hz), theta (4–8 Hz), alpha (8–12 Hz), beta (12–30 Hz), and gamma (30–45 Hz) bands. Band power would represent the total energy or power contained in a band. It is possible to estimate neural oscillations that underpin cognitive and emotional states based on this measure. In simpler terms, it takes the information carried by the PSD and integrates it over predefined frequency bands. That way, it provides a more detailed view about the activity of brain waves in those ranges. This step is very important for figuring out what kind of effect different states of cognition or emotion have on brain activity mostly because it allows the tracking of the time evolution of the power of specific frequency bands.

3.4 Statistical Analysis

For EEG data analysis, randomization tests are well-suited, as they do not require any assumptions about data distribution, making them beneficial in biomedical fields with typically small sample sizes. Additionally, these tests also offer flexibility, as they are not limited to any specific test statistic (e.g., F-statistic, t-statistic, or z-score) [112].

Comprehensive statistical analysis was performed to evaluate the effects of Humour on EEG Signals, using Python (version 3.11) within a Jupyter Notebook environment. This analysis was conducted to evaluate the distribution of data and the significance of changes in EEG features under different conditions according to given objectives.

3.4.1 Descriptive Statistics of EEG Power Bands

A summary of each EEG power band across different conditions was provided. The frequency spectrum was divided into EEG power bands. Following this, relative PSDs were obtained by normalizing each PSD to the total sum of all PSDs. The meaning of each power band was calculated to understand the EEG data's central tendency under different conditions. This allows us to estimate the average power level of each frequency band for each participant during different stages of the experiment, as stress is induced and then reduced.

3.4.2 Data Normalization Techniques

Data normalization is one of the most critical steps in the analysis due to which, it can be crucial to check the normality of the data distributed before moving forward with the next steps in the analysis. This step involved normalizing by the Z-score method, to keep all extracted EEG features on the same scale for different subjects. Thus, the mean was subtracted for each feature, and the result was divided by the standard deviation. This was for standardization, to have the same scale and comparability among the datasets from all subjects. This step allowed for consistent scaling and comparability of the EEG features across the study's 40 participants.

3.4.3 Testing for Normality

Normality Testing was conducted using Q-Q plots (Quantile-Quantile Plots) comparing the distributed EEG power bands to the theoretical normal distribution. The corresponding Q-Q plots for each power band were used to evaluate how closely the data conformed to a normal distribution. Two approaches were employed:

• Histograms

The histograms of each EEG feature were plotted to see the data distribution. This gave an initial intuitive look at whether the data resembled a Gaussian distribution as presented with a bell-shaped curve. Histograms of each EEG features were first plotted for visual inspection of the distribution of the data. This provided a basic overview of the data, approximating a normal distribution shown by a bell-shaped curve.

• Quantile-Quantile (Q-Q) Plots

Q-Q plots were additionally employed to test for normality by visually comparing relative quantiles of data from EEG to those expected under the null distribution. Plotting against the reference line for deviations between the Q-Q plots indicated that there was no fit for the data to a normal distribution, mainly with the higher quantiles. Normality was further confirmed through Q-Q plots. These show how the quantiles of the observed EEG data compare to the ideal normal distribution. If major scale shifts in the plot tangent to the guideline had occurred, it would mean the data would not normally be distributed.

• Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test

As the EEG data is not normally distributed, as indicated by the normality test, the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank test was used to evaluate the differences between 'pre', 'inter', and 'post', TSST, and Humour exposure conditions. This test is non-parametric and is conducted between two related samples, similarly matched samples or if some measurements are repeated on a single sample to evaluate whether their population mean will rank differently than before. When assumptions of the paired T-test such as normality are not fulfilled this test is used. The test was conducted as follows:

• Significance Testing and Evaluation of Statistical Significance

The differences between paired EEG scores and as well as their DASS scores for all 'pre', 'inter', and 'post' conditions were computed for each subject equally. The test statistic was then compared against a critical value from the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank table to determine if the observed differences were statistically significant. The test statistics were compared with the critical values in the Wilcoxon Signed-Rank table to assess whether any statistically significant differences existed in the EEG features between 'pre', 'inter', and 'post' TSST and Humour conditions. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used to establish the results, in which the obtained values will be checked for significance.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Behavioural Data and Stress Level Outcomes

It proposes a statistical analysis of stress induction and reduction using EEG signals due to TSST and comedy clips. The experimental results are provided by: (i) the statistical analysis of human stress responses to comedy clips in different languages, and (ii) the assessment of statistical significance.

4.2 Statistical Inferences from EEG Data

The participants were analyzed based on the DASS-21 score and assigned to either a stressed or non-stressed group. Participants with a DASS-21 score above the group average were classified as stressed, while the others were categorized as unstressed.

4.2.1 Analysis of Q-Q Plots and Histogram

The Q-Q plots are graphical assessment tools that can help one determine whether this data confirms a specified distribution, usually normal. These plots test the normality of the distribution of the EEG data. The testing of normality is crucial because it forms the basis for appropriate statistical tests to be selected in comparing the patterns in the EEG before and after exposure to comedy videos and between participants exposed to both native and non-native comedy videos. Q-Q plots help verify the feasibility of applying parametric tests, like t-tests or finding out whether non-parametric alternatives should be used instead [113]. In this study, Q-Q plots and histograms for all conditions of the EEG data were developed to test the normalized distribution of the features extracted.



Figure 6: Q-Q plots from EEG recording data



Figure 7: Histogram from EEG recording data







Figure 9: Histograms from DASS questionnaire data

As given in Figures 6,7,8, and 9, it can be observed that most points data do not follow a normal distribution in the higher quantiles of the distribution in both Q-Q plots and histograms. This was a consistent finding across multiple frequency bands, which led to the use of non-parametric statistical tests for further detailed examination for both data from EEG recording (Figures 6 and 7) and data collected through the DASS questionnaire (Figures 8 and 9).

4.2.2 Comparison of Mean Differences Across Power Bands

The mean differences across power bands likely reflect the average EEG power differences between experimental conditions. This analysis would allow the investigation of changes in the EEG patterns, specifically in frequency bands, before and after the exposure to comic videos. In comparing mean differences of power across the delta, theta, alpha, beta, and gamma bands, the frequencies of brain waves that are most affected by inducing stress and experiencing Humour could be determined. This data is necessary to explore the brain wave activity that indicates states of stress [114].



Figure 10: Mean Difference for Native Language Video Exposure

Figure 10 illustrates the mean differences in EEG power across various frequency bands (Delta, Theta, Alpha, Beta, and Gamma) for participants exposed to humor in their 57

native language (Urdu). The figure shows changes in the power of these brainwave bands before and after exposure to the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST) and native-language comedy clips. An increase in Delta and Theta power indicates cognitive processing and relaxation post-humor exposure, while changes in Alpha power suggest a relaxation-related response. These observations highlight the brain's neural response to stress reduction through humor in a familiar language.



Figure 11: Mean Difference for Non-Native Language Video Exposure

Figure 11 presents the mean differences in EEG power for participants exposed to humor in a non-native language (English). The figure compares the 'pre' and 'post' exposure power changes across the Delta, Theta, Alpha, Beta, and Gamma frequency bands. Similar to the native language exposure, increases in Delta and Theta power suggest cognitive processing and stress relief following humor exposure, although the changes in Alpha power are more modest. This figure underscores the brain's relaxation response to humor in a nonnative language, although the effect is slightly less pronounced compared to the native language group.

4.2.3 Heatmap of p-values

A heatmap was plotted to visualize the difference in statistical significance of EEG

power in different frequency bands between conditions. They represent the statistical significance of the changes in the EEG pattern. Plotting heatmap of p-values can provide information instantly about which regions and frequency bands exhibit significant changes following the induction of stress and exposure to humor. This would help in determining the relative effectiveness of native and non-native comedy videos in reducing stress, and the neural correlates of the processing of stress and Humour [115]. The heatmap supported the prominent significant p-values at all power bands in contrasts that included 'pre', and 'inter' versus 'post' Humour (p < 0.05). This underscores the statistical significance of humor's effects on these EEG features, supporting the hypothesis that Humour can modulate brain activity related to stress and relaxation.



Figure 12: Heatmap for EEG Power Bands Across Native Language

Figure 12 reveals a less significant change in the Delta power band which suggests that the effect of Native comedy video on the Delta band is weaker compared to non-native participants. This suggests that the native subjects did not have a more relaxed effect from the comedy video. Theta power also shows moderate changes which indicates relaxation post-comedy exposure.



Figure 13: Heatmap for EEG Power Bands Across Non-Native Language

Figures 13 highlights the statistically significant reduction in the Delta band which indicates a strong relaxation effect from the non-native comedy videos. This shows the role of Delta waves in the relaxation process as it remains consistent with the observed drop in stress levels in non-native subjects after exposure to comedy.

4.2.4 Line Graph Representations of Average Stress Levels

Line graphs demonstrate the change in the level of stress over time, such as before and during the TSST and exposure to humor. This makes it easier to track the real-time dataset of EEG signals, and how comedy videos provide stress relief. These line graphs will allow a comparison of the levels of stress between participants who were exposed to both native and non-native comedy videos. This graph most likely presents a comparison of the average stress levels directly between conditions of 'pre', 'inter', and 'post' TSST and Humour exposure. Here, the average scores for the 'pre', 'inter', and 'post' TSST and Humour conditions are plotted as a line graph taken from the DASS-21 questionnaire.



Figure 14: Average Stress Levels for Overall Score Across Non-Native Language



Figure 15: Average Stress Levels for Overall Score Across Native Language

Figures 12 and 13 show the average of the overall score of stress, anxiety, and depression of all subjects participating in the experiment. The most significant changes were noted in the non-native language as stress was first induced due to TSST and then it has been reduced due to comedy videos, while for the native language, stress couldn't be properly induced but it did reduce after watching the stand-up comedy. This finding indicates that there should be a more cognitive process running or another relaxation process that is affecting humor.

4.2.5 EEG Relative Power Band Analysis: Pre, Intermediate, and Post-TSST and Humour Exposure

Boxplots give a quick and compact representation of the distribution of EEG relative power across different frequency bands at various time points of the experiment ('pre', 'inter', and 'post' TSST and Humour exposure). Such plots will help in comparing changes in EEG patterns and in identifying brain waves associated with the levels of stress. The differential effect of Humour on the reduction of stress could also be assessed by comparing boxplots for the native and non-native comedy video groups [114]. Figures 16,17,18 and 19 below illustrate the relative power in the various EEG frequency bands (Alpha, Beta, Gamma, Delta, Theta) for non-native and native language speakers in three conditions, 'pre', 'inter', and 'post' TSST and Humour intervention along with the baselines of EEG recording during eyes kept opened and eyes kept closed.

• Stress Induction: TSST

The 'pre' are the baseline EEG recordings before taking the TSST and give the reference for the neural of each participant. In the 'Inter' condition, the expected changes across all power bands occur as anticipated due to the TSST. Specifically, power in the Delta and Theta bands increases significantly during the TSST. This is typically consistent with stress-related neural activity, as low-frequency bands tend to dominate under stress.

• Stress Reduction by Exposure to Humor

After the presentation of TSST, the participants were exposed to Humour stimuli characterized as stand-up comedy clips. Participants were divided into two groups: one that was exposed to the Humour in their native language and the second one to which the Humour was presented in a non-native language.

• Non-native language exposure

The power for non-native speakers shows a slight decrease in the Delta and Theta bands after Humour exposure, specifically during the 'post' condition. However, the reductions are less accentuated when compared with the ones from native speakers, which still indicates a drop in the level of stress, though probably not as effectively as achieved through non-native humor.

• Native language exposure

In the contrast group, on the other hand, the exposure to elicited Humour in the native language exposure was associated with a relatively much higher 'post' exposure decrement in Delta and Theta power band dependence. That is, Humour in their native language is delivered more effectively to be able to reduce stress levels, which is further supported by these stress-associated EEG bands' substantial decrement.



Figure 16: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Non-Native Language with eyes close baseline

In Figure 16, Delta power is relatively low at 'Pre_0', reflecting a relaxed baseline with eyes closed. There is a small increase in 'Post_0', indicating some stress recovery after Humour exposure, but the effect is modest since the eye-closed baseline was already relaxed. Theta power is stable across 'Pre_0' and 'Post_0' conditions, with minimal changes, indicating that the participants were in a meditative, relaxed state during the eye-closed baseline. Alpha power is high at baseline during the eye-closed condition 'Pre_0', with minimal changes post-Humour 'Post_0'. This reflects the typical behavior of Alpha waves in wakeful rest when the eyes are closed. Beta power remains low and stable throughout 'Pre_0' and 'Post_0', indicating minimal cognitive engagement or stress during the eye-closed baseline and post-exposure conditions.



Figure 17: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Native Language with eyes close baseline

Figure 17 shows that the Theta and Delta bands show moderate changes across conditions, particularly between the 'Pre_0', 'Inter_0', and 'Post_0' conditions where 0 indicates the baseline for EEG recording while keeping the eyes closed. This represents that stress reduction was also observed, though the changes were more subtle than for non-native subjects. Alpha power is high during the eye-closed baseline 'Pre_0' and remains stable post-Humour 'Post_0'. This reflects the typical relaxed, wakeful state associated with Alpha waves during eye-closed conditions. Beta power remains low and stable, with minimal changes between 'Pre_0'and 'Post_0', reflecting low cognitive engagement and stress during the eye-closed conditions.



Figure 18: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Non-Native Language with eyes open baseline

Figure 18 shows that there are significant changes in the relative power between the 'Pre_1', 'Inter_1', and 'Post_1' conditions where 1 indicates the baseline for EEG recording while keeping the eyes open. Delta power increases after TSST and following the comedy video, particularly in the 'Post_1' condition which indicates the reduction of stress, while the Theta power shows moderate changes which reflects the cognitive processing and relaxation of post-video exposure. Alpha power remains relatively stable, with a slight increase in 'Post_1', indicating participants are relaxed but alert post-Humour exposure. Alpha activity is generally lower in eye-open conditions compared to eye-closed conditions. Beta power increases during TSST 'Inter_1', reflecting heightened cognitive processing and stress. Post-Humour exposure 'Post_1', Beta power decreases, indicating a reduction in stress and cognitive load as participants relax.



Figure 19: EEG Relative Power Bands Across Native language with eyes open baseline

Figure 19 shows that the Delta power has a moderate increase post-Humour 'Post_1', indicating relaxation, but the change is less pronounced compared to nonnative subjects. This suggests that Humour in the native language induces a less intense relaxation response. Theta power increases slightly from Pre-1 to 'Post_1', reflecting a moderate reduction in stress after Humour exposure. The changes are less dramatic than in non-native subjects, indicating that Humour in the native language may be easier to process, requiring less cognitive effort to achieve relaxation. Alpha power remains relatively stable, with a small increase in post-Humour 'Post_1', indicating a relaxed but alert state. As with non-native subjects, Alpha activity is lower in eye-open conditions compared to eye-closed. Beta power increases during TSST 'Inter_1', reflecting cognitive engagement and stress, followed by a decrease in post-Humour 'Post_1', indicating stress relief and reduced cognitive load after the comedy video.

Comparative Analysis Across All Power Bands

The comparison across all power bands reveals that the reduction of stress markers associated with native language Humour is more pronounced for both Delta and Theta bands, compared to non-native humor. Other bands, such as Alpha and Beta, show variant responses depending on the language of the humor, but the overall trend supports the general efficacy of culturally and linguistically familiar Humour in reducing psychological stress.

These results highlight the importance of cultural and linguistic factors in the effectiveness of Humour as a stress reliever. The EEG data show that even if the TSST indeed elicits stress, reduction in stress through Humour is effective when the latter is served in the native language of the participant to hold familiarity and relevance at a personal level in emotional and psychological resilience.

4.2.6 Impact of Humour on EEG Activity

To evaluate the impact of Humour on EEG activity, various statistical and graphical analyses were conducted. Q-Q plots showed deviations from normality for the data; thus, using non-parametric tests. Bar graphs, used for the mean difference analysis, revealed that significant changes in EEG power occurred mainly in the Delta and Theta bands after exposure to humor. This was corroborated further by a p-values heatmap, which accentuated which bands of these values have the statistically significant difference. The findings suggest that increased cognitive processing and relaxation, reflected by these band activities, are associated with Humour exposure.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary of Key Findings

The present study tested whether multilingual Humour was able to reduce stress after the Trier Social Stress Test, using EEG data recording the neural responses to multilingual humor. This study essentially had the question of whether native or non-native comedy videos were better at reducing stress. Several key findings brought to the fore from rigorous data collection, signal processing, and statistical analysis include:

5.1.1 EEG Stress Indicators:

The experiment confirmed that certain frequency bands of EEG—particularly Theta and Delta—are subject to the linear influence of TSST-induced stress and subsequent presentation of humor.

5.1.2 Impact of Multilingual Humour:

In the current study, both Urdu and English have been used as stimuli to evaluate the impact of multilingual humor on stress reduction. Since Urdu was perceived as a native language for the user population, the minute difference in the efficacy of stress reduction between Urdu and English humor clips could be attributed to the participants' familiarity and comfort with both languages equally. With a bilingual society where most members understand and speak Urdu or English better, the participants would feel relatively at home with either language. This cultural and linguistic familiarity might reduce the expected distinction between the effects of humor in a native versus a non-native language. Consequently, the relaxation effect of both languages' comedy clips was probably felt to be similar by the participants, thus only with a slight difference in the relaxation response. Therefore, the minor difference in effects of the native vs. the non-native language.

5.1.3 Practical Implications:

The findings suggest that humor, particularly when presented within a familiar linguistic and cultural context, may be an effective tool for alleviating stress. This has potential applications in designing stress-relief programs that utilize culturally appropriate Humour as a therapeutic intervention.

In answering the question of whether multilingual Humour can help to alleviate stress immediately post-TSST, based on the measurement of neural response through EEG data, the stress level is likely to be reduced by the application of Humour bound by a native language. This deduction was made, having considered the changes in the Theta and Delta EEG frequency bands. The implications of the studies suggest that culturally relevant Humour may be of great benefit for stress management; it has clear applicability in education and health care.

5.2 Limitations and Future Work

As much as this research provides an important perception, it has several limitations. These include small and homogeneous sample sizes and single-channel EEG devices used in controlled laboratory conditions. Future research can expand the demographic scope, provide more detailed neural analysis by using multi-channel EEG systems, and research long-term effects under real-life conditions. These steps will provide generalizability and depth of findings, thereby offering a good account of relief from stress using humor.

REFERENCES

- R. Lazarus, "Stress and Emotion: A New Synthesis," *Choice Reviews Online*, vol. 37, no. 02, pp. 37-1229-37–1229, Oct. 1999, doi: 10.5860/CHOICE.37-1229.
- [2] A. R. Subhani, W. Mumtaz, M. N. B. M. Saad, N. Kamel, and A. S. Malik, "Machine Learning Framework for the Detection of Mental Stress at Multiple Levels," *IEEE Access*, vol. 5, pp. 13545–13556, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2723622.
- [3] J. I. Borráz-León, N. Nickels McLean, J. M. Jurgensen, and D. Maestripieri, "The effect of acute psychosocial stress on salivary cortisol and testosterone responses in men and women: The role of impulsivity," *Pers Individ Dif*, vol. 213, Oct. 2023, doi: 10.1016/J.PAID.2023.112321.
- [4] J. S. Seo, J. Wei, L. Qin, Y. Kim, Z. Yan, and P. Greengard, "Cellular and molecular basis for stress-induced depression," *Mol Psychiatry*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 1440–1447, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1038/MP.2016.118.
- [5] A. Gadit and G. Mugford, "Prevalence of Depression among Households in Three Capital Cities of Pakistan : Need to Revise the Mental Health Policy Loading metrics".
- [6] A. Gadit and G. Mugford, "Prevalence of Depression among Households in Three Capital Cities of Pakistan : Need to Revise the Mental Health Policy Loading metrics".
- [7] A. A. Muhammad Gadit and G. Mugford, "Prevalence of depression among households in three capital cities of Pakistan: Need to revise the mental health policy," *PLoS One*, vol. 2, no. 2, Feb. 2007, doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0000209.
- [8] N. Sharma and T. Gedeon, "Objective measures, sensors and computational techniques for stress recognition and classification: A survey," *Comput Methods Programs Biomed*, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 1287–1301, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1016/J.CMPB.2012.07.003.
- [9] R. Melzack, "Health psychology: a psychobiological perspective," *Pain*, vol. 28, no. 1, p. 139, Jan. 1987, doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(87)91067-0.
- [10] "Handbook of Stress and the Brain Part 1: The Neurobiology of Stress," vol. 15, 2005, doi: 10.1016/S0921-0709(05)X8001-4.
- S. Cohen, T. Kamarck, and R. Mermelstein, "A global measure of perceived stress.," J Health Soc Behav, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 385–396, 1983, doi: 10.2307/2136404.
- [12] L. H. Miller, A. Dell. Smith, and Larry. Rothstein, "The stress solution : an action plan to manage the stress in your life," p. 404, 19049.
- J. Leff, "Social Origins of Depression, by George W. Brown & Tirril Harris," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 204, no. 5, pp. 345–345, May 2014, doi: 10.1192/BJP.BP.113.129551.
- [14] M. K. Falconier and R. Kuhn, "Dyadic coping in couples: A conceptual integration and a review of the empirical literature," *Front Psychol*, vol. 10, no. MAR, 2019, doi: 10.3389/FPSYG.2019.00571/PDF.
- [15] C. Hammen, E. D. Dalton, and S. M. Thompson, "Measurement of Chronic Stress," *The Encyclopedia of Clinical Psychology*, pp. 1–7, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1002/9781118625392.WBECP047.
- [16] E. Walster, E. Berscheid, and G. W. Walster, "New Directions in Equity Research," *Adv Exp Soc Psychol*, vol. 9, no. C, pp. 1–42, Jan. 1976, doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60057-X.
- [17] I. Ulstein, T. B. Wyller, and K. Engedal, "High score on the Relative Stress Scale, a marker of possible psychiatric disorder in family carers of patients with dementia," *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 195–202, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1002/GPS.1660.
- [18] J. E. Wartella, S. M. Auerbach, and K. R. Ward, "Emotional distress, coping and adjustment in family members of neuroscience intensive care unit patients," J Psychosom Res, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 503–509, Jun. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.JPSYCHORES.2008.12.005.
- P. J. Brantley, C. D. Waggoner, G. N. Jones, and N. B. Rappaport, "A daily stress inventory: Development, reliability, and validity," *J Behav Med*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 61–73, Feb. 1987, doi: 10.1007/BF00845128.
- [20] D. Watson, L. A. Clark, and A. Tellegen, "Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales.," *J Pers Soc Psychol*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1063–1070, 1988, doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063.

- [21] "(PDF) The Trier Inventory for the Assessment of Chronic Stress (TICS): Scale construction, statistical testing, and validation of the scale work overload." Accessed: Aug. 27, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281071643_The_Trier_Inventory_for_the_Assessment_of_Chronic_Stress_TICS_Scale_construction_statistical_testing_and_va lidation_of_the_scale_work_overload
- [22] K. A. Lee, G. Hicks, and G. Nino-Murcia, "Validity and reliability of a scale to assess fatigue," *Psychiatry Res*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 291–298, 1991, doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(91)90027-M.
- [23] C. D. Spielberger, "State-Trait Anxiety Inventory," *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, pp. 1–1, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1002/9780470479216.CORPSY0943.
- [24] J. R. McQuaid *et al.*, "Toward the standardization of life stress assessment: Definitional discrepancies and inconsistencies in methods," *Stress Med*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 47–56, 1992, doi: 10.1002/SMI.2460080107.
- [25] "(PDF) Identification of Mathematics Anxiety Through Gesture." Accessed: Aug. 27, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/323835981_Identification_of_Mathematics__Anxiety_Through_Gesture
- [26] T. Azim, M. A. Jaffar, and A. M. Mirza, "Fully automated real time fatigue detection of drivers through Fuzzy Expert Systems," *Appl Soft Comput*, vol. 18, pp. 25–38, 2014, doi: 10.1016/J.ASOC.2014.01.020.
- [27] G. Giannakakis *et al.*, "Stress and anxiety detection using facial cues from videos," *Biomed Signal Process Control*, vol. 31, pp. 89–101, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/J.BSPC.2016.06.020.
- [28] T. Partala and V. Surakka, "Pupil size variation as an indication of affective processing," *International Journal of Human Computer Studies*, vol. 59, no. 1–2, pp. 185–198, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S1071-5819(03)00017-X.
- [29] M. Haak, S. Bos, S. Panic, and L. Rothkrantz, "DETECTING STRESS USING EYE BLINKS AND BRAIN ACTIVITY FROM EEG SIGNALS," *Lance*, vol. 21, p. 76, 2009, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61155-7.

- [30] W. Liao, W. Zhang, Z. Zhu, and Q. Ji, "A real-time human stress monitoring system using dynamic Bayesian network," *IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops*, vol. 2005-September, 2005, doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2005.394.
- [31] S. Gillespie, J. Laures-Gore, E. Moore, M. Farina, S. Russell, and B. Haaland, "Identification of Affective State Change in Adults With Aphasia Using Speech Acoustics.," *Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 2906–2916, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1044/2018_JSLHR-S-17-0057.
- [32] T. L. Nwe, S. W. Foo, and L. C. De Silva, "Speech emotion recognition using hidden Markov models," *Speech Commun*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 603–623, Nov. 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0167-6393(03)00099-2.
- [33] G. Mancia and G. Grassi, "The Autonomic Nervous System and Hypertension," *Circ Res*, vol. 114, no. 11, pp. 1804–1814, May 2014, doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302524.
- [34] P. Ferreira, P. Sanches, K. Höök, and T. Jaensson, "License to chill! how to empower users to cope with stress," *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*, vol. 358, pp. 123–132, 2008, doi: 10.1145/1463160.1463174.
- [35] S. C. Jacobs *et al.*, "Use of skin conductance changes during mental stress testing as an index of autonomic arousal in cardiovascular research," *Am Heart J*, vol. 128, no. 6 PART 1, pp. 1170–1177, 1994, doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(94)90748-X.
- [36] T. Lin, M. Omata, W. Hu, and A. Imamiya, "Do physiological data relate to traditional usability indexes?," *Australasian Computer-Human Interaction Conference*, 2005.
- [37] Y. Shi, N. Ruiz, R. Taib, E. Choi, and F. Chen, "Galvanic skin response (GSR) as an index of cognitive load," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings*, pp. 2651–2656, 2007, doi: 10.1145/1240866.1241057.
- [38] M. Kumar, M. Weippert, R. Vilbrandt, S. Kreuzfeld, and R. Stoll, "Fuzzy evaluation of heart rate signals for mental stress assessment," *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 791–808, Oct. 2007, doi: 10.1109/TFUZZ.2006.889825.
- [39] S. B. R. E. Brown, J. F. Brosschot, A. Versluis, J. F. Thayer, and B. Verkuil, "Assessing New Methods to Optimally Detect Episodes of Non-metabolic Heart Rate Variability

Reduction as an Indicator of Psychological Stress in Everyday Life: A Thorough Evaluation of Six Methods," *Front Neurosci*, vol. 14, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.3389/FNINS.2020.564123/PDF.

- [40] G. Clifford, "Signal processing methods for heart rate variability analysis," 2002.
- [41] L. Salahuddin and D. Kim, "Detection of Acute Stress by Heart Rate Variability Using a Prototype Mobile ECG Sensor," 2006, doi: 10.1109/ICHIT.2006.117.
- [42] S. Reisman, "Measurement of physiological stress," *Proceedings of the IEEE 23rd Northeast Bioengineering Conference*, pp. 21–23, 1997, doi: 10.1109/NEBC.1997.594939.
- [43] K. J. Heilman, M. Handelman, G. Lewis, and S. W. Porges, "Accuracy of the StressEraser® in the detection of cardiac rhythms," *Applied Psychophysiology Biofeedback*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 83–89, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1007/S10484-008-9054-1.
- [44] J. A. Healey and R. W. Picard, "Detecting stress during real-world driving tasks using physiological sensors," *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 156–166, Jun. 2005, doi: 10.1109/TITS.2005.848368.
- [45] Z. Dharmawan, "Analysis of Computer Games Player Stress Level Using EEG Data," 2007.
- [46] I. Lobo *et al.*, "EEG correlates of the severity of posttraumatic stress symptoms: A systematic review of the dimensional PTSD literature.," *J Affect Disord*, vol. 183, pp. 210–220, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.JAD.2015.05.015.
- [47] O. Amir, I. Biederman, Z. Wang, and X. Xu, "Ha Ha! Versus Aha! a direct comparison of Humour to nonhumorous insight for determining the neural correlates of mirth," *Cerebral Cortex*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 1405–1413, May 2015, doi: 10.1093/CERCOR/BHT343.
- [48] "(PDF) When did humans first arrive in Greater Australia and why is it important to know?" Accessed: Aug. 27, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/229666399_When_did_humans_first_arrive _in_Greater_Australia_and_why_is_it_important_to_know
- [49] A. Chaddad, Y. Wu, R. Kateb, and A. Bouridane, "Electroencephalography Signal Processing: A Comprehensive Review and Analysis of Methods and Techniques,"

Italian National Conference on Sensors, vol. 23, no. 14, Jul. 2023, doi: 10.3390/S23146434.

- [50] P. H. Lee *et al.*, "Outcomes of patients with stress-induced cardiomyopathy diagnosed by echocardiography in a tertiary referral hospital.," *Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 766–771, Jul. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.ECHO.2010.05.002.
- [51] W. K. Tsang and M. Wong, "Constructing a Shared 'Hong Kong Identity' in Comic Discourses," *Discourse & Society*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 767–785, Nov. 2004, doi: 10.1177/0957926504046504.
- [52] K. K. Watson, B. J. Matthews, and J. M. Allman, "Brain activation during sight gags and language-dependent humor," *Cerebral Cortex*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 314–324, Feb. 2007, doi: 10.1093/CERCOR/BHJ149.
- [53] D. K. Woodhouse, "The aspects of Humour in dealing with stress.," *Nurs Adm Q*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 80–89, 1993, doi: 10.1097/00006216-199301810-00013.
- [54] J. Garrick, "The Humour of Trauma Survivors," *J Aggress Maltreat Trauma*, vol. 12, no. 1–2, pp. 169–182, 2006, doi: 10.1300/J146V12N01_09.
- [55] A. Cann, K. Holt, and L. G. Calhoun, "The roles of Humour and sense of Humour in responses to stressors," *Humor*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 177–193, 1999, doi: 10.1515/HUMR.1999.12.2.177.
- [56] A. L. Porterfield, "Does sense of Humour moderate the impact of life stress on psychological and physical well-being?," *J Res Pers*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 306–317, 1987, doi: 10.1016/0092-6566(87)90013-4.
- [57] C. C. Moran and L. P. Hughes, "Coping with Stress: Social Work Students and Humour," *Social Work Education*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 501–517, 2006, doi: 10.1080/02615470600738890.
- [58] "Over 34% Pakistanis suffer from anxiety." Accessed: Aug. 27, 2024. [Online].
 Available: https://tribune.com.pk/story/2076914/34-pakistanis-suffer-anxiety
- [59] H. Xie *et al.*, "Multimodal Cross-Lingual Features and Weight Fusion for Cross-Cultural Humour Detection," *Proceedings of the 4th on Multimodal Sentiment Analysis*

Challenge and Workshop: Mimicked Emotions, Humour and Personalisation, pp. 51–57, Nov. 2023, doi: 10.1145/3606039.3613110.

- [60] L. F. Barrett, "The theory of constructed emotion: an active inference account of interoception and categorization," *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–23, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1093/SCAN/NSW154.
- [61] J. Hofmann, F. Rodden, J. W. Schwieter, and M. Paradis, "Representing, Detecting, and Translating Humour in the Brain," *The Handbook of the Neuroscience of Multilingualism*, pp. 335–354, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1002/9781119387725.CH16.
- [62] A. Ladilova and U. Schröder, "Humour in intercultural interaction: A source for misunderstanding or a common ground builder? A multimodal analysis," *Intercultural Pragmatics*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 71–101, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.1515/IP-2022-0003.
- [63] A. Miyake, N. P. Friedman, M. J. Emerson, A. H. Witzki, A. Howerter, and T. D. Wager, "The Unity and Diversity of Executive Functions and Their Contributions to Complex 'Frontal Lobe' Tasks: A Latent Variable Analysis," *Cogn Psychol*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 49–100, Aug. 2000, doi: 10.1006/COGP.1999.0734.
- [64] R. E. Nisbett, I. Choi, K. Peng, and A. Norenzayan, "Culture and systems of thought: holistic versus analytic cognition," *Psychol Rev*, vol. 108, no. 2, pp. 291–310, 2001, doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.108.2.291.
- [65] E. Bialystok, F. I. M. Craik, and G. Luk, "Bilingualism: consequences for mind and brain," *Trends Cogn Sci*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 240–250, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.1016/J.TICS.2012.03.001.
- [66] N. Andleeb, M. Asgher, and R. Zimi, "Exploration of Speaking Multiple Languages' Effect on Cognitive Flexibility and Problem-solving Skills," *Pakistan Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 837–845, May 2023, doi: 10.52131/PJHSS.2023.1102.0394.
- [67] G. G. Colom, C. T. Alcover, C. Sánchez-Curto, and J. Zárate-Osuna, "Study of the effect of positive humour as a variable that reduces stress. Relationship of humour with personality and performance variables," *Psychology in Spain*, 2011.
- [68] M. Merino, I. Gómez, and A. J. Molina, "EEG feature variations under stress situations," *Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and*

Biology Society, vol. 2015-November, pp. 6700–6703, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2015.7319930.

- [69] M. G. Newman and A. A. Stone, "Does Humour moderate the effects of experimentally-induced stress?," *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 101–109, 1996, doi: 10.1007/BF02909582.
- [70] S. Jena, "Examination stress and its effect on EEG," *Int J Med Sci Public Health*, vol. 4, no. 11, p. 1493, 2015, doi: 10.5455/IJMSPH.2015.23042015308.
- [71] A. M. Nezu, C. M. Nezu, and S. E. Blissett, "Sense of Humour as a moderator of the relation between stressful events and psychological distress: a prospective analysis.," *J Pers Soc Psychol*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 520–525, 1988, doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.54.3.520.
- [72] C. Brunner *et al.*, "BNCI Horizon 2020: Towards a Roadmap for the BCI Community," *Brain-Computer Interfaces*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1–10, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1080/2326263X.2015.1008956.
- [73] B. K. Pradhan *et al.*, "Investigating the effect of sound in horror clip on the cardiac electrophysiology of young adults using wavelet packet decomposition and machine learning classifiers," *Biomedical Engineering Advances*, vol. 3, p. 100037, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.BEA.2022.100037.
- [74] M. Barzegar, G. P. Jahromi, G. H. Meftahi, and B. Hatef, "The Complexity of Electroencephalographic Signal Decreases during the Social Stress," *J Med Signals Sens*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 57–64, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.4103/JMSS.JMSS_131_21.
- [75] "Measuring stress: A guide for health and social scientists." Accessed: Sep. 09, 2024.[Online]. Available: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1998-07054-000
- [76] S. Folkman, "Stress: Appraisal and Coping," *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine*, pp. 1913–1915, 2013, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9_215.
- [77] B. S. McEwen, "Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 338, no. 3, pp. 171–179, Jan. 1998, doi: 10.1056/NEJM199801153380307.
- [78] "Measure: Depression Anxiety Stress Scales." Accessed: Sep. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available:

https://effectiveservices.my.site.com/s/measure/a007R00000v8QUkQAM/depression -anxiety-stress-scales

- [79] A. T. Beck, N. Epstein, G. Brown, and R. A. Steer, "An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties," *J Consult Clin Psychol*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 893–897, 1988, doi: 10.1037//0022-006X.56.6.893.
- [80] S. Cohen, P. J. Gianaros, and S. B. Manuck, "A Stage Model of Stress and Disease," *Perspect Psychol Sci*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 456, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1177/1745691616646305.
- [81] K. M. Harris, A. E. Gaffey, J. E. Schwartz, D. S. Krantz, and M. M. Burg, "The Perceived Stress Scale as a Measure of Stress: Decomposing Score Variance in Longitudinal Behavioral Medicine Studies," *Ann Behav Med*, vol. 57, no. 10, p. 846, Oct. 2023, doi: 10.1093/ABM/KAAD015.
- [82] "Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Form Y1 Y2) | Request PDF." Accessed: Sep. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235361542_Manual_for_the_State-Trait_Anxiety_Inventory_Form_Y1_-_Y2
- [83] "Depression Anxiety Stress Scales." Accessed: Sep. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2Ft01004-000
- [84] D. M. Basnight-Brown, A. Ayoob, and J. Altarriba, "Emotion Processing in a Highly Proficient Multilingual Sub-Saharan African Population: A Quantitative and Qualitative Investigation," *Languages*, vol. 7, no. 4, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.3390/LANGUAGES7040280.
- [85] J. Hwang, W. Li, L. Stough, C. Lee, and K. Turnbull, "A focus group study on the potential of autonomous vehicles as a viable transportation option: Perspectives from people with disabilities and public transit agencies," *Transp Res Part F Traffic Psychol Behav*, vol. 70, pp. 260–274, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.TRF.2020.03.007.
- [86] B. M. Wen, "Stress, adaptation, and disease. Allostasis and allostatic load," *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, vol. 840, pp. 33–44, May 1998, doi: 10.1111/J.1749-6632.1998.TB09546.X.
- [87] E. Perez-Valero, M. A. Vaquero-Blasco, M. A. Lopez-Gordo, and C. Morillas, "Quantitative Assessment of Stress Through EEG During a Virtual Reality Stress-

Relax Session," *Front Comput Neurosci*, vol. 15, p. 684423, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FNCOM.2021.684423/BIBTEX.

- [88] M. Zubair and C. Yoon, "Multilevel mental stress detection using ultra-short pulse rate variability series," *Biomed Signal Process Control*, vol. 57, p. 101736, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.BSPC.2019.101736.
- [89] J. W. Ahn, Y. Ku, and H. C. Kim, "A Novel Wearable EEG and ECG Recording System for Stress Assessment," *Sensors 2019, Vol. 19, Page 1991*, vol. 19, no. 9, p. 1991, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.3390/S19091991.
- [90] S. W. Choi, S. E. Chi, S. Y. Chung, J. W. Kim, C. Y. Ahn, and H. T. Kim, "Is Alpha Wave Neurofeedback Effective with Randomized Clinical Trials in Depression? A Pilot Study," *Neuropsychobiology*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 43–51, Nov. 2010, doi: 10.1159/000322290.
- [91] S. Bhatnagar, S. Khandelwal, S. Jain, and H. Vyawahare, "A deep learning approach for assessing stress levels in patients using electroencephalogram signals," *Decision Analytics Journal*, vol. 7, p. 100211, Jun. 2023, doi: 10.1016/J.DAJOUR.2023.100211.
- [92] J. E. W. Koh, E. Y. K. Ng, S. V. Bhandary, Y. Hagiwara, A. Laude, and U. R. Acharya, "Automated retinal health diagnosis using pyramid histogram of visual words and Fisher vector techniques," *Comput Biol Med*, vol. 92, pp. 204–209, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.COMPBIOMED.2017.11.019.
- [93] X. Zhou et al., "Evaluation of the diagnostic potential of ex vivo Raman spectroscopy in gastric cancers: fingerprint versus high wavenumber," https://doi.org/10.1117/1.JBO.21.10.105002, vol. 21, no. 10, p. 105002, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1117/1.JBO.21.10.105002.
- [94] E. Perez-Valero, M. A. Vaquero-Blasco, M. A. Lopez-Gordo, and C. Morillas, "Quantitative Assessment of Stress Through EEG During a Virtual Reality Stress-Relax Session," *Front Comput Neurosci*, vol. 15, p. 684423, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FNCOM.2021.684423/BIBTEX.
- [95] A. Łysiak, "Measuring Stress Response via the EEG A Review," Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 1362 AISC, pp. 119–128, 2021, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-72254-8_12.

- [96] E. Perez-Valero, M. A. Vaquero-Blasco, M. A. Lopez-Gordo, and C. Morillas, "Quantitative Assessment of Stress Through EEG During a Virtual Reality Stress-Relax Session," *Front Comput Neurosci*, vol. 15, p. 684423, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FNCOM.2021.684423/BIBTEX.
- [97] C. Kirschbaum, K. M. Pirke, and D. H. Hellhammer, "The 'Trier social stress test' A tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting," *Neuropsychobiology*, vol. 28, no. 1–2, pp. 76–81, 1993, doi: 10.1159/000119004.
- [98] J. R. Wolpaw and D. J. McFarland, "Control of a two-dimensional movement signal by a noninvasive brain-computer interface in humans.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 101, no. 51, pp. 17849–17854, Dec. 2004, doi: 10.1073/PNAS.0403504101.
- [99] P. R. Kennedy, R. A. E. Bakay, M. M. Moore, K. Adams, and J. Goldwaithe, "Direct control of a computer from the human central nervous system.," *IEEE transactions on rehabilitation engineering*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 198–202, Jun. 2000, doi: 10.1109/86.847815.
- [100] K. A. Jellinger, "Toward Brain-Computer Interfacing," *Eur J Neurol*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. e52–e52, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1111/J.1468-1331.2008.02463.X.
- [101] N. Olini, I. Rothfuchs, D. Azzinnari, C. R. Pryce, S. Kurth, and R. Huber, "Chronic social stress leads to altered sleep homeostasis in mice," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 327, pp. 167–173, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.03.022.
- [102] R. S. Lewis, N. Y. Weekes, and T. H. Wang, "The effect of a naturalistic stressor on frontal EEG asymmetry, stress, and health," *Biol Psychol*, vol. 75, no. 3, pp. 239–247, Jul. 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2007.03.004.
- [103] I. Stancin and A. Jovic, "An overview and comparison of free Python libraries for data mining and big data analysis," *International Convention on Information and Communication Technology, Electronics and Microelectronics*, pp. 977–982, May 2019, doi: 10.23919/MIPRO.2019.8757088.
- [104] A. Nagpal and G. Gabrani, "Python for Data Analytics, Scientific and Technical Applications," 2019 Amity International Conference on Artificial Intelligence (AICAI), pp. 140–145, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1109/AICAI.2019.8701341.

- [105] U. Herwig, P. Satrapi, and C. Schönfeldt-Lecuona, "Using the International 10-20 EEG System for Positioning of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation," *Brain Topogr*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 95–99, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1023/B:BRAT.0000006333.93597.9D.
- [106] J. Fell, N. Axmacher, and S. Haupt, "From alpha to gamma: electrophysiological correlates of meditation-related states of consciousness.," *Med Hypotheses*, vol. 75, no. 2, pp. 218–224, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.MEHY.2010.02.025.
- [107] "The five frequency bands of EEG signal | Download Scientific Diagram." Accessed: Sep. 01, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/figure/The-fivefrequency-bands-of-EEG-signal_fig1_275830679
- [108] I. Marijanović *et al.*, "Use of the Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21) Questionnaire to Assess Levels of Depression, Anxiety, and Stress in Healthcare and Administrative Staff in 5 Oncology Institutions in Bosnia and Herzegovina During the 2020 COVID-19 Pandemic," *Med Sci Monit*, vol. 27, pp. e930812-1, 2021, doi: 10.12659/MSM.930812.
- [109] R. Cao *et al.*, "A simple method to improve the quality of NDVI time-series data by integrating spatiotemporal information with the Savitzky-Golay filter," *Remote Sens Environ*, vol. 217, pp. 244–257, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.RSE.2018.08.022.
- [110] M. M. Siddiqui, M. Suhaib Kidwai, G. Srivastava, K. K. Singh, and P. Charan, "Analysis of Eeg Data Using Different Techniques of Digital Signal Processing," *Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 135–139, 2024, doi: 10.13005/BPJ/2841.
- [111] A. Chaddad, Y. Wu, R. Kateb, and A. Bouridane, "Electroencephalography Signal Processing: A Comprehensive Review and Analysis of Methods and Techniques," *Sensors 2023, Vol. 23, Page 6434*, vol. 23, no. 14, p. 6434, Jul. 2023, doi: 10.3390/S23146434.
- [112] H. Alsuradi, W. Park, and M. Eid, "Midfrontal theta power encodes the value of haptic delay," *Scientific Reports 2022 12:1*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–11, May 2022, doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-12911-0.

- [113] F. Orcan, "Parametric or Non-parametric: Skewness to Test Normality for Mean Comparison," *International Journal of Assessment Tools in Education*, vol. 2020, no. 2, pp. 255–265, 2020, doi: 10.21449/ijate.656077.
- [114] W. Klimesch, "EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: a review and analysis," *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, vol. 29, no. 2–3, pp. 169–195, Apr. 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(98)00056-3.
- [115] F. Courtemanche, P. M. Léger, A. Dufresne, M. Fredette, É. Labonté-Lemoyne, and S. Sénécal, "Physiological heatmaps: A tool for visualizing users' emotional reactions," *Multimed Tools Appl*, vol. 77, no. 9, pp. 11547–11574, May 2018, doi: 10.1007/S11042-017-5091-1/FIGURES/14.